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01.19.17 Transcript of Proceedings - 01.19.17 | Martha Szramek, | JA 000239 -

Motions Court Recorder | JA 000346 2

09.18.17 Transcript of Proceedings - 09.18.17 Jennifer Gerold, | JA 000352 -

Plaintiffs’ Omnibus Motion in Limine; Court Recorder | JA 000390

Defendants’ Motion in Limine; Team

Construction Management, Inc., and

Beacher’s LV LLC’s Joinder to Fourth

Supplement to Defendant Backstage

Employment & Referral, Inc.’s

Designation of Expert Witnesses & 2

Documents

03.29.18 - Transcript of Proceedings Re: | 03.29.18 Jennifer Gerald, | JA 000391 - 2

Pretrial Conference Court Recorder | JA 000424 [

04.03.18 - Reporter’s Transcript of Jury | 04.03.18 Kristy L. Clark, | JA 000425 - 2-3

Trial RPR JA 000568

04.11.18 - Reporter’s Transcript of Jury | 04.11.18 Kristy L. Clark, | JA 000574 - 3

Trial RPR JA 000714

04.13.18 - Reporter’s Transcript of Jury | 04.13.18 Kristy L. Clark, | JA 000715 - 3-4

Trial RPR JA 000892

04.17.18 - Reporter’s Transcript of Jury | 04.17.18 Kristy L. Clark, | JA 000893 - 4-5

Trial RPR JA 001167

04.18.18 - Reporter’s Transcript of Jury | 04.18.18 Kristy L. Clark, [JA 001168 - 5-6

Trial RPR JA 001415

04.24.18 - Reporter’s Transcript of Jury | 04.24.18 Kristy L. Clark, | JA 001416 - 6-7

Trial RPR JA 001585

04.25.18 - Reporter’s Transcript of Jury | 04.25.18 Kristy L. Clark, | JA 001933 - 9-10

Trial RPR JA 002269

04.26.18 - Reporter’s Transcript of Jury | 04.26.18 Kristy L. Clark, | JA 002270 - 10-11

Trial RPR JA 002514
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04.27.18 - Reporter’s Transcript of Jury | 04.27.18 Kristy L. Clark, | JA 002515 - 11-13
Trial RPR JA 002904

04.30.18 - Reporter’s Transcript of Jury | 04.30.18 Kristy L. Clark, | JA 002905 - 13
Trial RPR JA 003016

05.01-18 - Reporter’s Transcript of Jury | 05.01.18 Kristy L. Clark, | JA 003017 - 13-14
Trial RPR JA 003282

05.02.18 - Reporter’s Transcript of Jury | 05.02.18 Kristy L. Clark, | JA 003283 - 14-16
Trial RPR JA 003596

05.03.18 - Reporter’s Transcript of Jury | 05.03.18 Kristy L. Clark, | JA 003597 - 16-17
Trial RPR JA 003846

05.04.18 - Reporter’s Transcript of Jury | 05.04.18 Kristy L. Clark, | JA 003847 - 17
Trial RPR JA 004002

05.08.18 - Reporter’s Transcript of Jury | 05.08.18 Kristy L. Clark, | JA 004071 - 18-19
Trial RPR JA 004402

05.09.18 - Reporter’s Transcript of Jury | 05.09.18 Kristy L. Clark, | JA 004435 - 19-20
Trial RPR JA 004720

05.10.18 - Reporter’s Transcript of Jury | 05.10.18 Kristy L. Clark, | JA 004723 - 20-21
Trial RPR JA 004988

05.11.18 - Reporter’s Transcript of Jury | 05.11.18 Kristy L. Clark, | JA 005005 - 21-22
Trial RPR JA 005157

05.22.18 - Reporter’s Transcript of Jury | 05.22.18 Kristy L. Clark, [ JA 005158 - 22
Trial RPR JA 005232

05.23.18 - Reporter’s Transcript of Jury | 05.23.18 Kristy L. Clark, | JA 005233 - 22-23
Trial RPR JA 005401

05.24.18 - Reporter’s Transcript of Jury | 05.24.18 Kristy L. Clark, | JA 005440 - 23-24
Trial RPR JA 005613

05.25.18 - Reporter’s Transcript of Jury | 05.25.18 Kristy L. Clark, | JA 005614 - 24-25
Trial RPR JA 005806

05.29.18 - Reporter’s Transcript of Jury | 05.29.18 Kristy L. Clark, | JA 005807 - 25
Trial RPR JA 005919
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08.23.18 - Recorder’s Transcript of 08.23.18 | Jennifer Gerold, JA 006497 - 28

Hearing re: Plaintiffs’ Motion for Court Recorder JA006552

Judgment As A Matter of Law or, In The

Alternative, for New Trial

Backstage Employment and Referral, 04.25.18 | Weinberg Wheeler | JA 001874 - 8-9

Inc.’s Brief Regarding New and Hudgins Gunn & | JA 001932

Previously Undisclosed Witnesses Dial

Backstage Employment and Referral, 12.16.16 | Weinberg Wheeler | JA 000151 - 1

Inc.’s Motion to Bifurcate Trial (Filed Hudgins Gunn & | JA 000158

Under Seal) Dial

Backstage Employment & Referral, 08.10.18 | Weinberg Wheeler | JA 006353 - 27

In¢.’s Opposition to Plaintiffs’ Motion Hudgins Gunn & | JA 006381

for Judgment as a Matter of Law, or, Dial

Alternatively for a New Trial

Backstage Employment and Referral, 04.08.19 | Weinberg Wheeler | JA 006614 - 28

Inc.’s Response to Plaintiffs’ Motion for Hudgins Gunn & | JA 006616

Certification of Judgment on Order Dial

Shortening Time

Backstage Employment & Referral, 01.11.17 | Weinberg Wheeler | JA 000177 - 1

Inc.’s Reply in Support of Motion to Hudgins Gunn & | JA 000234

Bifurcate Trial Dial

Beacher’s LV, LLC’s Answer to MGM 04.05.16 Morris Sullivan | JA 000078 - 1

Grand Hotel’s Third Party Complaint Lemkul & Pitegoff | JA 000092

Beacher’s LV, LLC’s Amended Answer | 10.07.16 Morris Sullivan | JA 000128 - 1

to MGM Grand Hotel’s Third-Party Lemkul & Pitegoff | JA 000150

Complaint; Counterclaim by Beacher’s

LV, LLC; Third Party Complaint by

Beacher’s LV, LLC

Beacher’s Motion for Leave to File an 07.29.16 Morris Sullivan | JA 000093 - 1

Amended Answer to Third Party Plaintiff Lemkul & Pitegoff { JA 000127

MGM Grand’s Complaint; Counterclaim

by Beacher’s LV, LLC; Third Party

Complaint by Beacher’s LV, LLC

Case Appeal Statement 07.11.18 Harris & Harris | JA 006271 - 27
JA 006294
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Complaint and Demand for Jury Trial 08.06.14 Eglet Law Firm | JA 00001 - 1
JA 00011

Court Minute Order Regarding Motion 04.25.19 Judge Mark JA 006623 28

for Certification Denton

Court Minutes - Defendant Backstage 02.02.17 Judge Mark JA 000347 2

Employment and Referral, Inc.’s Motion Denton

to Bifurcate Trial I

David Copperfield’s Disappearing, Inc., | 10.27.14 | Selman Breitman | JA 000029 - |

David Copperfield aka David Kotkin and JA 000038

MGM Grand Hotel, LLC’s Answer to

Plaintiff’s Complaint

David Copperfield’s Disappearing, Inc., | 04.25.18 | Selman Breitman | JA 001835 - 8 {

David Copperfield and MGM Grand JA 001873

Hotel, LLC’s Brief Regarding

Undisclosed Witnesses

David Copperfield’s Disappearing, Inc., | 02.01.16 | Selman Breitman | JA 000060 - 1

David Copperfield aka David Kotkin and JA 000071

MGM Grand Hotel, LLC’s Amended

Answer to Plaintiffs’ Complaint and

Cross Claim Against Team Construction

Management, Inc.

David Copperfield’s Disappearing, Inc., | 12.28.16 | Selman Breitman | JA 000159 - 1

David Copperfield aka David S. Kotkin, JA 000161

and MGM Grand Hotel, LLC’s Joinder

to Co-Defendants’ Motions in Limine

and Motion to Bifurcate Tral

David Copperfield’s Disappearing, Inc., 04.10.19 | Selman Breitman | JA 006617 - 28

David Copperfield and MGM Grand JA 006619

Hotel, LLC’s Response to Plaintiffs’
Motion for Certification of Judgment on
Order Shortening Time
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Decision Regarding Motion for 09.17.18 Judge Mark JA 006553 - 28

Judgment as a Matter of Law Denton JA 006559

Gavin and Mihn-Hahn Cox’s Appendix | 05.07.18 Harris & Harris | JA 004009 - 17-18

in Support of Emergency Petition for JA 004067

Writ of Mandamus Under NRAP 27(E)

Jury Instructions 05.23.18 Judge Mark JA 005402 - 23
Denton JA 005439

MGM Grand Hotel, LLC’s Motion for 12.01.15 | Selman Breitman | JA 000039 - 1

Leave to File a Third Party Complaint JA 000057

MGM Grand Hotel, LLC, David 05.10.18 | JA 004989 - 21

Copperfield and David Copperfield’s Selman | JA 005004 (t

Disappearing, Inc.’s Trial Brief to Breitman

Preclude Plaintiffs from Calling

Improper Rebuttal Witnesses

MGM Grand Hotel, LLC, David 08.10.18 | Selman Breitman | JA 006382 - 27-28

Copperfield aka David Kotkin and David JA 006466

Copperfield’s Disappearing, Inc.’s

Opposition to Plaintiffs’ Motion for

Judgment As A Matter of Law, or,

Alternatively for New Trial

Notice In Lieu of Remittitur 06.04.18 Supreme Court | JA 005924 25

Notice of Appeal (Supreme Court File- 07.19.18 Harris & Harris | JA 006295 - 27

Stamp) JA 006326

Notice of Entry of Order Denying 10.23.18 | Resnick & Louis | JA 006562 - 28

Plaintiffs’ Motion for Judgment as a JA 006566

Matter of Law, or, Alternatively, for a

New Trial

Notice of Filing Emergency Petition for | 05.07.18 Harris & Harris | JA 004003 - 17

Writ of Mandamus JA 004006

Notice of Hearing on Plaintiffs’ Motion 03.29.19 EJDC - JA 006612 - 28

for Certification Department 13 JA 006613

Notice of Transfer to Court of Appeals 05.07.18 Supreme Court | JA 004007 - 17

JA 004008
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NRAP 27(E) Certificate 05.09.18 | Selman Breitman | JA 004427 -
JA 004434
Weinberg Wheeler
Hudgins Gunn &
Dial 19
Resnick & Louis
Order Denying Petition for Writ of 05.07.18 Supreme Court | JA 004068 - 18
Mandamus JA 004070
Order Denying Plaintiffs’ Motion for 10.22.18 | Resnick & Louis | JA 006560 - 28
Judgment as a Matter of Law, or, JA 006561
Alternatively, for a New Trial
Order Denying Rehearing 05.10.18 Supreme Court | JA 004721 20
JA 004722
Order Granting Defendant Backstage 02.27.17 | Weinberg Wheeler | JA 000348 - 2
Employment and Referral, Inc.’s Motion Hudgins Gunn & | JA 000351
to Bifurcate Trial Dial
Order Granting Defendants David 01.28.16 | Selman Breitman | JA 000058 - 1
Copperfield, David Copperfield’s JA 000059
Disappearing, Inc. And MGM Grand
Hotel, LLC’s Motion for Leave to
Amend Their Answer to File Cross
Claim
Order Granting Motion to Extend Time 03.28.19 Supreme Court | JA 006597 - 28
|| (Supreme Court) JA 006598
Order on Plaintiffs’ Motion for 05.08.19 | Morelli Law Firm | JA 006624 - 28
Certification of Judgment JA 006626
Plaintiff’s Amended Case Appeal 11.26.18 Harris & Harris | JA 006577 - 28
Statement JA 006585
Plaintiffs’ Amended Notice of Appeal 11.26.18 Harris & Harris | JA 006567 - 28
JA 006576
Plaintiffs’ Motion for Certification of 03.28.19 | Harris & Harris | JA 006599 - 28
Judgment On Order Shortening Time JA 006611
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Plaintiffs’ Motion for Judgment As a 07.05.18 Harris & Harris | JA 005925 - 25-27
Matter of Law, or, Alternatively, for a JA 006259
New Trial
Plaintiffs’ Notice of Appeal (EJDC File- | 07.11.18 Harris & Harris | JA 006260 - 28 t
Stamped) JA 006270
Plaintiffs’ Opposition to Defendant 01.05.17 Harris & Harris | JA 000166 - 1
Backstage Employment and Referral, JA 000176
Inc.’s Motion to Bifurcate Trial
Plaintiffs’ Reply in Support of Motion 08.20.18 Harris & Harris | JA 006467 - 28
for Judgment as a Matter of Law, Or, JA 006496
Alternatively for a New Trial
Plaintiffs’ Trial Brief to Exclude 04.11.18 Harris & Harris | JA 000569 - 3
Cumulative Expert Testimony on JA 000573
Defendants’ Proposed Expert Witnesses
John E. Baker and Nicholas Yang
Plaintiff’s Trial Brief to Permit 04.25.18 Harris & Harris | JA 001586 - 7-8
Testimony of Newly Discovered Fact JA 001834
Witnesses
Real Parties in Interest Emergency 05.09.18 | Selman Breitman | JA 004403 - 19
Petition for Rehearing of Order Denying JA 004426
Petition for Writ of Mandamus Under Weinberg Wheeler
NRAP 27(E), Immediate Action is Hudgins Gunn &
Necessary as the Trial is Already in Dial it
Progress
Resnick & Louis
Request for Transcript of Proceedings 12.21.18 | Morelli Law Firm | JA 006586 - 28
JA 006589
Stipulation 03.08.19 | Morelli Law Firm | JA 006595 - 28
JA 006596
Summons - Backstage Employment and | 09.02.14 Eglet Law Firm | JA 000021 - 1
Referral, Inc. w/Affidavit of Service JA 000024
Summons - David Copperfield’s 08.14.14 Eglet Law Firm | JA 000012- 1
Disappearing, Inc. w/Affidavit of Service JA 000014
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Summons - David Copperfield aka David | 09.14.14 Eglet Law Firm | JA 000025 - 1
S. Kotkin w/Affidavit of Service JA 000028

Summons - MGM Grand Hotel, LLC 08.14.14 Eglet Law Firm | JA 000015- 1
w/Affidavit of Service JA 000017

Summons - Team Construction 08.14.14 Eglet Law Firm | JA 000018 - 1
Management, Inc. w/Affidavit of Service JA 000020

Supplemental Request for Transcript of 01.15.19 | Morelli Law Firm | JA 006590 - 28 “
Proceedings JA 006594

Team Construction Management, Inc.’s | 03.22.16 Resnick & Louis | JA 000072 - 1
Answer to Cross Claimants David JA 000077
Copperfield’s Disappearing, Inc., David

Copperfield aka David Kotkin and MGM

Grand Hotel, LLC’s Cross Claim

Team Construction Management, Inc., 04.15.19 | Resnick & Louis | JA 006620 - 28
and Beachers LV, LLC’s Joinder to JA 006622 "
Defendants David Copperfield’s

Disappearing, Inc, David Copperfield

and MGM Grand Hotel, LLC’s Response

to Plaintiffs’ Motion to Certification of

Judgment on Order Shortening Time

Defendant Team Construction 12.29.16 | Resnick & Louis JA 000162 - 1
Management, Inc. And Beachers LV, JA 000165 It
LLC’s Joinder to Backstage Employment

and Referral’s Motion to Bifurcate Trial

Team Construction Management, Inc. 01.18.17 | Resnick & Louis | JA 000235 - 1
And Beachers LV, LLC’s Joinder to JA 000238

Backstage Employment & Referral’s

Reply in Support of the Motion to

Bifurcate Trial

Defendants Team Construction 07.20.18 Resnick & Louis | JA 006327 - 27
Management, Inc. And Beacher LV’s JA 006352

Opposition to Plaintiffs’ Motion for

Judgment as a Matter of Law, or,

Alternatively for a New Trial
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Verdict (Phase 1)

05.29.18

Court

JA 005920 -
JA 005923

25
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A. Yes.

Q. Okay. So, now, as they're —— these three
stagehands —— or four —-- they're standing on one side,
and they're looking at these -- how many people? 137
16? —— sometimes?

A, They're not just standing far away from them
looking at them.

Q. Okay. But it is 13 to 16 people; right?

A, 13 to 15, yes.

Q. Yeah, sometimes -- actually, I heard that
there's sometimes 16.

A, I'm not sure where that number came from,
but —

Q. Okay. But let's just say it's 15 or 13.
Doesn't really matter.

So now they're walking up, and the stagehands
are —— they're standing close to them, as close as you
and I are right now?

A. Probably closer. It's — it's a tight
position. I ceculd stand up and demonstrate if you
would like.

Q. No, no.

A. It would be very simple to demonstrate it
right here. I could show ——

Q. I do the demonstrations, Mr. Kenner.

65
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A. Ckay. I mean —

Q. Okay?

A. —— it would just clarify it simply for the
jury.

Q. Is this as close as they are, or are they

closer than this?

A. I would say a little bit closer.
Is this as close as they are?
Yes,
So let's say 8 feet? 6 feet?
This is 6 feet, yeah.

© ® O » O

OCkay. All right.

So are all three stagehands 6 feet away?

o

Yes.

Q. Ckay .

It's a tight, contained spot. 1It's —

it's — they're in a contained area, so it's not like
I'm standing here and they're walking past back there;
it's an area very similar to right here.

Q. Okay. So now they're —-- they're looking.
And when they're loocking —— and I — I just want to
understand. Let's assume it's 15 people. They all
come up. Are they all, like, in a crowd and the three
people are standing 6 feet away approximately?

A. No.

66
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Q. Okay. Do they come one at a time?

A. Basically, vyes.

Q. Oh, so they come one at a time. And;ﬁﬁff 
three stagehands are standing there and they're making
an assessment before they walk up the stairs ——

A. Correct.

Q. —— correct?

Okay. So now the three stagehands, one says
to the other, "She's physically fit."

What happens if stagehand number two
disagrees? What happens then?

A. We would always err on the safety side. 1If
one person said, "I don't think this person should go
on stage," no matter what anyone else says, we would do
it.

Q. So, really, you only need one stagehand?

A. No, you would need multiple because there's
SO0 many people coming, you want to make sure you get
everyone.

Q. Oh, okay. So not each stagehand sees every
potential participant?

MR. POPOVICH: Objection. Calls for
speculation.
THE COURT: If he knows.

THE WITNESS: They walk right past them.

67
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Every single one walks right past each one of them.
BY MR. MORELLI: i

Q. Okay. But —— but just so that I undeIStéﬁd;
is this right next to the stage before the stairs?

A. In a theater, you have — let's say that this
is the stage.

Q. Uh-huh.

A. And here —-- here's the stage. These — we'll
do it this way so it's a little bigger.

Q. Right. Make sure you don't roll off there.

A. So there's aisles that come down.

Q. I know. I know what it loocks like; they
don't. But we'll show them.

A. I understand, but this is really — this-
really will make it simple.

There are aisles that come down. So on the
side there's a wall right here. So as the people all
are told to come over here and come down this edge of
the wall, they come down this edge of the wall. And
that's the people standing right here at the bottom
right before the stairs.

And they come one at a time right past them.
So they're going to walk right past each person. So
they're going to see each person as they walk past.

Q. Okay. So now the —— if — if one of them
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says, "Huh—uh, not physically fit," that person's put

on the side?

A. Correct.

Q. Okay. And that happens, doesn't it —
A. Yes.

Q. -~ a fair amount?

A. Oh, yes.

Q. Okay. So then, by the time they're walking
up the stairs, it's already been determined whether or
not they're going to be selected? Or they've already |
been selected, so to speak?

A. That's not the final, no.

Q. QOkay. 8o, now, just so that I understand, it
really is immaterial whether it's 13 or 15 people.
Let's assume it's somewhere around there.

A. Correct.

Q. And there's three or four stagehands. And
one of them has already determined that someone's not

physically fit. Because that's all I'm talking about

right now. I know that there are other things —— and
we'll discuss that — but just with reference to
physical fitness, if — if one —— if —— if one

stagehand says the person's not physically fit, you say
they're out because you err on the side of extreme

caution?

| 69
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A. Correct.

Q. Okay. So if they're out, why would you need
any more determining factors? Do they become fit after
they get on the stage? Answer no; correct?

A. I'm not sure what that question is,

Q. Well, in other words, you're saying that they
make a determination before they walk up the stairs
whether they're physically fit; correct?

A. Yes.

Q. Okay. And only one stagehand is necessary to
weed out a person who that person thinks is not
physically fit —

A No.

Q. —— because you err on the side of caution.

A. Say that again.

Q. Okay. Three stagehands, to make it easy.
There may be four, but just to make it easy, there's
three.

And one of them looks at one of the possible
participants and says, "I don't believe that this
person 1s physically fit enough to be involved in the
illusion." And you said earlier, unless I
misunderstood, that they're definitely out because you
err on the side of caution.

A. Correct.

70
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Q. Okay. 8o, now, once they're out, can they
get back in?

A. No.

Q. Okay. So —- so then when —— when —— after
they're out, do they walk up the stairs and go on the
stage?

A. Yes.

Q. Okay. So now they walk up the stairs and
they go on the stage, and they're definitely out.

Is — is that articulated to everybody?

A, The only person that needs to be informed is
David Copperfield.

Q. Okay. So then the stagehand who made the
determination tells him that they're out, and they're
put on the side?

A. Correct.

Q.  Okay.

THE COURT: Counsel, why don't we take a
recess now?

MR. MORELLI: Sure.

THE COURT: Okay. Let's recess until 11:00.

All right. During the recess, ladies and
gentlemen, you're admonished not to talk or converse
among yourselves or with anyone else, including,

without limitation, the lawyers, parties, and

71
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witnesses, on any subject connected with the trial or
read, watch, or listen to any report of or commentary
on the trial or any person connected with the trial by
any medium of information, including, without
limitation, newspapers, television, the internet, and
radio, or to form or express any opinion on any subject
connected with the trial until the case is finally
submitted to you.
Be outside the courtroom down to the south
just 11:00. Okay?
(Whereupon a short recess was taken.)
(The following proceedings were held
outside the presence of the jury.)
THE MARSHAL: Please rise. Department is
back in session.
THE COURT: You may be seated. We're back on

the record.

Mr. Roberts, I understand you have something
to address.

MR. ROBERTS: Yes, Your Honor. I wanted to
address this. I know we've moved on. The Court

overruled my objection. But I believe this is
something that is going to come up with other witnesses
periodically through trial.

There were repeated references to Mr. Kenner
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as the person most knowledgeable. And, as the Court
knows, that's a term that was used under the old rules.
The new rules, modeled affer the Federal Rules of Civil
Procedure, Rule 30(b) (6), doesn't contain the word
"person most knowledgeable.” There is no such thing as
a person most knowledgeable under our rules. And there
is no requirement for a corporation to produce, on
every topic designated, the person most knowledgeable
in the corporation or even a person in the corporation
at the time. They simply have to produce someone to
testify to the knowledge reasonably available to the
corporation, and the corporation is bound by that
testimony.

And it's very misleading and confusing to
repeatedly ask witnesses whether they are the person
most knowledgeable on the topic and that, if there's
someone else there, somehow there's an appearance of
impropriety if someone else in the corporation or

outside the corporation knows more than the witness on

the stand.

Thank you, Your Honor.

MR. DEUTSCH: Your Honor, obviously, if we
ask — we didn't use 32(b) (6). We didn't mention any

of that. We just asked him, "Do you have the most

knowledge on this subject?" He could say "Yes, I do";
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"No, I don't. There's someone else,” who would be if
it's that person.

MR. MORELLI: And it can't come up again,

MR. DEUTSCH: And —— so —— so there's nothing
wrong with asking a witness, Your Honor, if we're
talking about the subject of X, "Are you the person in
the company that knows the most about subject X? Are
you the most knowledgeable about that subject, or is
someone else more knowledgeable about it than you?"

Nobody's talked about any legal standards of
any kind at all.

MR. ROBERTS: Actually, the Court will recall
that that's not what they did. They asked the witness
if he was designated as the person most knowledgeable.
"Did you make that decision? Did Mr. Copperfield make
that decision?"

Well, he didn't ask the next question, but,
obviously, the lawyers made that decision, Your Honor.

THE COURT: All right. Let's go forward.
And if you have an objection to make at any given time,
go ahead and make it and I'll rule on it.

MR. ROBERTS: Thank you, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Ready for the jury?

All right.

THE MARSHAI.: All rise.
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(The following proceedings were held in
the presence of the jury.)
THE COURT: You maybe be seated.
Do counsel stipulate that the jury is now
present?
MR. MORELLI: Yes, Your Honor.
MR. POPOVICH: Yes, Yout Honor.
MR. ROBERTS: Yes, Your Honor.
THE COURT: You may resume, Mr. Morelli.
MR. MORELLI: Thank you, Your Honor.
BY MR. MORELLI:

Q. Mr. Kenner, in a couple of minutes, we'll
watch portions of the —- it's not up there yet —-
portions of the video from the audience perspective of
what we were talking about, where they catch the ball

and they come up.

A. Fair.
Q. Qkay?
And this way, we can put it in context. Fair
enough?
A. Uh—-huh.
Q. Before we do that, I have a couple of
questions.
After that assessment that we've already
discussed —— okay? —— about the stagehands looking and
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doing a visual assessment —- let’'s call it that. Fair
enough?
A, Yes.

Q. They're then —— they then go up to the stage,
and the people who are still in contention, let's say,
to be iﬁ the illusion are then asked questions as part
of a further screening. 1Is that fair?

A Say that again, because they're not on stage
at this time.

Q. No, I'm saying —— I'm talking about
they're —-- they're down before they go up the stairs.

A. Correct.

Q. And that's when you and I discussed the
visual assessment.

A, Correct.

Q. Okay. Now they walk up the stairs. And
isn't that the time —-

No, sir.

—— when they're asked questions?

L S

No, sir.

Q. Okay. They're asked questions before they
walk up the stairs?

A. Correct.

Q. Okay. Are there any questions asked of them

after they're on the stage?
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A. No, unless Mr. Copperfield were to ask them a
question for whatever reason for the show. Like, is
that your —— you know, is that your real suit? You
know, whatever he wanted to ask them.

Q. Yeah, sort of kidding around stuff?

A. Yes.

Q. But as you understand, even though you’'re not
pPhysically there at the time, it's set up for the
questions to be before they get on the stage?

A. Correct.

Q. Okay. So when they get on the stage, you
know whether to put them on the side or not?

A. Yes.

Q. Fair enough?

Okay. And one of the questions that's asked

is, "Can you run?"

A. Yes.

Q That's — that's correct?
A, Yes.

Q Right?

And this particular illusion has been
referred to as "the runaround"; correct?
A, Correct.
Q. Okay. So am I also correct, sir, that when

they're asked the question, "Can you run?" that's the
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whole question: "Can you run?"
A. Yes.

Q. It's not like "Can you run 100 yards?”

Correct?
A. Correct.
Q. It's not "Can you run a certain route or

route?" Correct?

A. Correct.

Q. Because — am I also correct, Mr. Kenner,
that the participants, even after they're selected, are
not told exactly what they're going to do? As a matter
of fact, they're not told anything?

A. Correct.

MR. MORELLI: So, Mr. Deutsch, can we ——
okay. Let's —

MR. DEUTSCH: This is Exhibit 94, Your Honor.
BY MR. MORELLI:

Q. Mr. Kenner, can you see it from there?

A. Yeah, I think —

MR. DEUTSCH: Mr. Kenner, you have a monitor.
THE WITNESS: Yes. Thank you.
BY MR. MORELLI:

Q. You can watch it there.

MR. POPOVICH: Your Honor, can we clarify

that this is not the night of the accident?
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MR. DEUTSCH: Yes.
BY MR. MORELLI:
Q. Yeah, this is not November 12th, 2013.
We've —— we all understand that it's —— would be the

same as it would have been, but it's not that night.

A, Correct.
Q. Fair enough?
A, Yes.

MR, POPOVICH: Thank you.
MR. MORELLI: Thank you, Mr. Popovich.
(Whereupon video was played.)
MR. MORELLI: Could we wait a second. Could
we wait a second.
Your Honor, are we able to dim the lights?
THE COURT: You want the lights up?
MR. MORELLI: Can we lower the lights so we
can see it better?
That's better, I think.
{(Whereupon video was played.)
MR. MORELLI: Okay. Mr. Deutsch, can you
stop it there.
BY MR. MORELLI:
Q. So — Jjust —-- 'cause I didn't want to watch
certain parts. I think the entire tape is over ten

minutes. So we're just going to show a few minutes and
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ask you certain questions.

At this point, Mr. Copperfield has told the

entire audience that certain people who are randomly

selected will be disappearing; correct?

A.
Q
A,
Q
you and I

they walk

assessed,

Yes.

I mean, that's all that he's telling th -
Correct.

—— at that point?

And now I want to take it to the point that
were discussing, and that was right before
up the stairs. After they've been visually
they were asked questions. Okay?

S0 if you would look at the monitor and tell

us exactly when to stop —— okay? —— when they're being

asked those questions. 1Is that fair enough?

A.

Sure.

{(Whereupon video was played.)

BY MR. MORELLI:

Q.

Okay. So, now, if we could —— we're going to

take it to the point where they're about to go up the

stairs, and you'll tell us that that is or it was a bit

baefore or

A.

a little after. Fair enough?
Sure.
MR. MORELLI: Okay.

(Whereupon video deposition was played.)
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BY MR. MORELLI:

Q. So, now, Mr. Kenner, the question that I have
is that Mr. Copperfield is telling the audience
members — and we don't know who the participants are
going to be, obviously, at this point, but he's saying
to them, "Don't catch a ball unless you could speak
English." 1Is that correct?

A, Yes.

Q. Is it important for them to be able to speak
English? Just yes or no.

A. Yes.

Q. And when it was determined that this was
going to be said by Mr. Copperfield, "Don't catch a
ball unless you can speak English," did you determine
that or did he determine that or did you do it
together?

A. As a group.

Q. As a group. So the stagehands were involved
in that too? |

A, I'm not sure exactly who was. Again, this
would have been 1998 when we first started discussing
this.

Q. So it's always been the same script?

A. It's been very similar.

Q. Right. So sometimes it's changed, but this
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particular script was used on the night of

November 12th, 2013°?
Oh, vyes.

That's the important thing.

L S

Yes.

Q. Okay. And so he is asking the audience not
to catch a ball unless they could speak English. And
is it important to speak English because they're going
to have to be able to follow certain instructions along
the route that they're going to run? Yes?

A. Correct. Yes.

Q. And -—- and we're going to go a little further
now and it will come across your screen.

(Whereupon video was played.)
MR. MORELLI: Could you stop it there.
BY MR. MORELLI:

Q. Okay. So Mr. Copperfield just said to the —-
to the audience that "it's important that you
understand the risks, and there may be violence."

Okay. That's a joke; right?

A. Yes.

Q. Okay. So —— just so that we clarify —
A, Yeah.

Q. —— that part.

So that —- during his presentation -~ this
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presentation to the audience, he is saying certain
things that are jokes. 1Is this correct?

A. Yes.

Q. And are other things serious? In other
words, does he mean some of the things he's saying or
are all of them just a joke?

A. No, some are serious.

Q. Okay.

MR. MORELLI: Next.
(Whereupon video was played.)
BY MR. MORELLI:

Q. So, now, Mr. Kenner, you tell us —

A. Right now. Stop. As soon as they start to
hit the —— I'm sorry. I was so excited watching the
show.

Q. No, no, no. That's okay.

A. It's so good, I was, like, enthralled. I'm
sorry. I just tuned in.

Q. I know. To bad it wasn't good for Mr. Cox,
but I get it.

This is the point at which what? Tell us
what —
A. This is where the audience members are
walking up that part of the stage I was just

describing.
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Q. Right.

A. And they all walk to the one side. So, you
know, David has obviously told them to go to the one
side.

Q. Right.

A. As they're coming up, there's a little —
what you can't see in this video —- right past —

Q. Yeah, because the stage is sort of off —

A. —— right past —— the girl that has ﬁhe ball,
there's a slight alcove that has, like, an exit. So
there's a little room for the —— for our people to
stand there so they're not blocking that aisleway for
the people to walk.

Q. Got it. So now this is right at the
beginning before the visual assessment?

A. They are visually going to assess them as
they come towards them.

Q. It's not yet? It hasn't happened?

A. Well, that girl that has the ball that's at
the front is being visually assessed as we speak.

Q. Okay. And this one hasn't moved yet, so —

A. Correct. They are — they are frozen there
on that screen. 1In the eighth row, basically.

Q. All right. So let's move it along. And then

you'll tell us when to stop when the questions are
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coming.
(Whereupon video was played.)
THE WITNESS: Right now. Stop.
BY MR. MCRELLTI: |
Q. Okay. So that it's already —- when —— when
the person comes up, they have a ball. They're being

visually assessed and asked questions at the same time?

A. Correct.
Q. Is that correct?
A. Correct.

Q. QCkay. So that if they're visually assessed
and they're out, do you still ask questions? because
the questions aren't going to change anything.

A. I think they would still ask the questions
just out of habit and just to do it, so it's not like
they don't go, oop, they're out. Not going to ask
that. They keep their rhythm.

Q. Keep the flow?

A, Correct.

Q. Okay. So you could watch now, and —— until
we get up on the stage.

(Whereupon video was played.)
MR. MORELLI: So could you stop it there for
a second, Adam?
/117171
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BY MR. MORELLI:
Q. Now, you know, you could see better probably

over there. But this over here —-

A, Yes.

Q. ~— that's David Copperfield. He's on the
stage®?

A, Correct.

Q. Right? So the people who we see walking

there are already on the stage?

A, Yes. You can't quite see the steps. They're
right --
Q. Right.
—— off the screen.
Q. Right. Because, you know, we don't have the
whole thing, so —-

A, Correct.

Q. All right. So approximately —— would you say
that mostly everyone at this particular point is
already on the stage?

A, I couldn't —— I didn't count everyone as they
were coming up, but it looks —-

Q. Just approximately. I'm not trying to hold
you to it.

A. Yeah. Seven-eighths of them are on stage,
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Q. Ckay. So let's go a little further.
(Whereupon video was played.)
MR. MORELLI: So, Adam, let's stop it when
they all get on the stage. Okay?
(Whereupon video deposition was playéd.)
MR. MORELLI: Okay. You could stop it now.
BY MR. MORELLI:

Q. So the —— everyone's on the stage now.

A. It looks like it, yes.

Q. As far as we could tell. When they're coming
up to the stage, I see Mr. Copperfield standing there.
That's not part of the questioning process?

A, No.

Q. Because the questioning process has already
been done by the stagehands?

A. Correct.

Q. Fair enough? Okay.

So now, before we go any further, let's talk
about that questioning process. The first thing that
they're —— they're asked is, "Can you run?”

A. I'm not sure if it's exactly the first

question.
Q. I'm not saying it's first.
A. You said it was the first question.

Q. Well, I'm going to withdraw that question.
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A. Okay.

Q. Okay? One of the questions that —— that
they're asked is "Can you run?"

A. Correct.

Q. Okay. Now, I would assume that sometimes
that could be the first question and sometimes it's not
the first question.

A. Yes, I guess so.

Q. Yeah. It doesn't happen probably exactly the
same every night.

A. I bet it does.

Q. But they do ask that question?

A, Yes.

Q. Okay. And so you bet that it does happen
exactly the same every night; right?

A. Yes. It's a routine that they're going
through, and it's part of what they do every day.

Q. But you are the boss. So is it the first
question?

A. I don't know.

Q. Well, as the executive producer, if you're
saying that it —— that you believe it happens the same
every night, what's the order of the questioning? 1Is
the first question, "Can you run?"

A, I don't know.
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Q. Okay. So you don't tell them the order; they
make it up?

A. I am not sure of that either. No.

Q. Okay. So let's assume that "Can you run?" is
one of the questions. All right? And the person is
only asked that question. If they say no, they're out.

A. If they say no, correct.

Q. Right. If they say yes, there's more
questions.

A. Yes.

Q. Right? Now, one of the questions that is
asked is "Are you pregnant?" I assume that women are

asked these questions.

A. Yes.

Q. Okay. Is every woman asked "Are you
pregnant?"

A. Yes. I would think yes.

Q. Okay. Well, you would think or you know? I
mean, you are the executive producer. So you have to

tell us, is every woman asked "Are you pregnant?"

A. I don't ask the questions, so I would —— yes.
I would say yes.

Q. Okay.

A. They do a routine that's so specific when

they do it, I'm sure they ask the exact same questions.
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Q. Mr. Kenner, if it's very specific, then you
would tell us for sure that they ask that question. So
all I'm asking is -- and I'm not trying té trick you —
is do they ask all women "Are you pregnant?"

A, I don't ask the question, so I don't know. -

Q. Now, am I correct, sir, that you're asking
women are they pregnant because there's a certain
reason for doing that? Right? You're not just asking
them questions.

A. Yes.

Q. Right. There's a particular reason that you
would ask a woman "Are you pregnant?" Right? And that
is to protect them?

Yes. Obviously.
Okay. That's obvious. Right?

S

Yeah.

Q. It's to protect them. And is that to protect
them because pregnant women can't run? Yes or no.

A, No. 1I'm —— say the question again. I just
want to make sure I'm hearing you.

Q. Is the reason for the question "Are you
pregnant?" to protect women because pregnant women
can't run?

A. I will answer that with pregnant women can

run, however that transfers into the correct answer for
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that.
Q. Okay. But the reason for the question, in
your opinion, is not because pregnant women can't run.

That's not the reason for the question ——

A, Correct.

Q. —— 1s because they can't run.

A. Correct.

Q. Because pregnant women run. Sometimes

pregnant women run marathons; isn't that correct?

A. Yes.

Q. Right. So am I correct that the reason for
the question about whether a woman is pregnant is to
protect them?

A. Correct.

Q. Okay. Is the reason for the question to also
protect the unborn child? Yes or no.

A. Yes.

Q. Okay. So that —— is the reason that you have
to protect pregnant women in particular, and their
unborn children, is because you know that in this

particular runaround someone can fall? Yes or no.

A. No.

Q Okay. So that's not the reason?

A. No.

Q You're not trying to protect pregnant women
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and their unborn children because they're going to
fall?

A. No.

Q. Okay. 1Is it because —— and we know it's not
because they can't run. Right? So it's not because
they can't run and it's not because they could fall,
because you don't think that if a pregnant woman is
running this route, they can fall. You don't think
that, do you? Yes or no. Do you think it?

A. No. No.

Q. They can't. Okay. So pregnant women running
this route can't fall. Okay. So there's got to be a
reason that you're weeding out these pregnant women.
Right? It's got to be a reason. Right?

A, Yeah.

Q. You were one of the people that made this
determination, did you not?

A. Yes.

Q. Okay. So when you were making this
determination with Mr. Copperfield, you said, Hey, we
better protect these pregnant women because they can?

A. They can what?

Q. They can what? They can't fall. They can
run. So what are you protecting them for?

A. It's just obvious to protect —— it's to
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protect a person.

Q. Really? But —— but only pregnant women?

A. Different pregnant women might have ——

Q. Wait a second. You're saying that pregnant
women, you're not protecting them because they can
fall. Are you sure about that?

A. I did not say that. No.

0. Was the reason that you were weeding out, and
still weed out, pregnant women is because there's a

possibility, during the runaround, they can fall? Yes

or no.
A, No.
Q. Okay. 1Is it because, during the runaround,

they could be bumped into and maybe injured? Yes or
no.

A. No. 1It's for safety, the safety of a woman
who's pregnant and her unborn child. I mean, why would
we be hurt for trying to protect them?

Q. Mr. Kenner, I'm not telling you why you
should do anything. I'm trying to find out why you do
things, if we understand each other. There's got to be
a reason that you are not protecting everyone the same
way. Right? You would assume that if somebody singles
out a group, there's a reason. 1Is that fair?

A. why —
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Q. If you single out a group, there's a reason.
Now, I understand, to say, hey, look, why wouldn't
someone protect someone pregnant? That sounds like a
very nice thing to do, but that's not the issue. Why
are you singling them out? Okay? Are you singling
them out because they could be bumped into and fall?
Or they could just fall, trip and fall, slip and fall?
Is that the reason?

A. No.

Q. There's got to be a reason. There's got to
be a reason. You said they could run. But you don't
think that they could fall. They could run, but they
can't fall. 1Is that your testimony, that they could
run but you have no worries about them falling?

A. We tell them not —— we're not asking them to
do it. There's no worry of them falling if we're not
asking them to do it. Society deems us, basically, to
protect pregnant women. And if that's a problem,
then —

Q. Mr. Kenner —-

A, —— I don't understand that.

Q. Mr. Kenner, loock, I think I'm asking you
straightforward questions. I'm not trying to trick
you; I'm really not. I'm trying to find out —— I'm

going to do my best to find out why you're singling out
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these pregnant women.

Now, if pregnant women are singled out, you
would agree with me that a reasonable person would say,
they're doing for a reason. Right? You're doing it
for a reason. You're not just protecting pregnant
women; you are doing it for a reason.l

And isn't this entire screening process for a
reason? Didn't you tell me earlier it's for a reason?

A. Yeah.

Q. Yeah. And the screening process is —- the
reason that you are doing it is because for safety.
Isn't that what you told me earlier?

A. Yes.

Q. It's for safety. So you're keeping pregnant
women safe. 1Is that what you are doing?

A. Yes.

Q. You're keeping them safe. Okay. 8o let's
find out how you are keeping them safe. And safe from
what? Safe from what? That's what I want to know.

What are you keeping them safe from? They can't fall.

Right?
A, Yes.
Q. They can't fall. They can't get bumped into
and get injured or injure their fetus; true?
A. You're asking the reason or if they could?
95
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Q. You can answer either one of those questions.
It's okay with me. Can they?

A. Can they?

Q. Yeah. Can they be bumped into?

A. They could fall right here. Anybody could

fall.

Q. You know the route; correct?

A. Correct.

Q. You designed it.

A. Well, I helped.

Q. Well, you designed it with Mr. Copperfield;
right?

A. Yes.

Q. Ckay.

A. And Mr. Buttoner.

Q. So the three of you designed it. And seeing
that you're one of the bosses, you certainly had a lot
of input, if not more than a lot; true?

A. Yes.

Q. And when you designed it, you wanted to
determine that you kept the participants who were
randomly selected —- that's what David Copperfield
says — you want to keep them safe.

A. Correct.

Q. Okay. And I don't want to beat this to
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death, but I need to know exactly why you're doing
things. I'm not afraid of the answer. Okay? Why are
you doing these things?

MR. ROBERTS: Objection to form.
BY MR. MORELLI:

Q. You're asking them can they run?

MR. ROBERTS: These are compound, Your Honor.
He needs to stop at each question.

.THE COURT: Sustained. Just pose a question.
BY MR. MORELLTI:

Q. All women are asked, you think, whether
they're pregnant. If they say yes, they're out.
Correct?

A, Yes.

Q. Now, when you were deciding that this ﬁould
be a question, who came up with it first? You,

Mr. Copperfield, or this other fellow that you talk
about, Ben?

A. About the —— say that question. Again about
the pregnancy?

Q. Yeah.

A. Ben had nothing to do with deciding the
question.

Q. Okay. You and David Copperfield?

A. And Homer Liwag.
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Q. And Homer Liwag. The three of you got
together. And who came up with it? If it were you,
you would remember. Correct?

A. Probably. But it was a group effort.

Q. Right. BAnd ultimately —-

A, Pregnant women —— preénant women --

Q. Before you give a speech —— I understand
you're an entertainer, but let me just ask certain
questions. All right? And that is the —— the

determination was made as a group.

A. Yes.

Q. Fair enough?

A. Uh-huh.

Q. But someone said, hey, why don't we put

pregnant women in that group of disqualified people.

Did you come up with that idea before you gave it to
the other two guys?

A. Not me, no.

Q. Okay. Did Homer come up with the idea before
he gave it —— it went to the group?

A. I don't know that.

Q. Okay. Do you know whether it was
Mr. Copperfield who came up with that question to
determine to keep pregnant women out?

A. David might have mentioned it because, in
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general, on stage, if there's even assumption —— an
assumption of a person walking —— before asking, if
someone walks on stage and they are —— wvisually look

Pregnant, you're going to be more tender with that
person, because women tend to be —— some women don't

like to even stand up. They want to sit a certain way.

They don't want — so you just —— we're just respecting
women -—-—

Q. Okay.

A. —— that are pregnant.

Q. And I'm very glad that you're doing that.

A. That's it. That's the answer.

Q. But you said you're asking every woman if
they're pregnant. So you're not —— you're not making
that determination. The only determination that you
are making visually ——- am I correct? —— is whether or

not someone's physically fit. Correct?

A. Correct.

Q. That's the only determination that's done
visually?

A. No.

Q. Okay. Now, are you making a determination
visually if someone's pregnant?

A. They're asking the question. There's no need

to make the decision.
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Q.
pregnant?"

A.

Q.

Every woman is being asked "Are you

Yes.

If they're like —— like this and cbviously

pregnant or not. Correct?

A.
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Correct.

They're still asked the question?
Correct.

Now, you know the route, do you not ——
Yes.

~— that they have to run.

Yes.

Right?

Have you ever run that route?
Yes.

You personally?

Yes.

Okay. How many times?

Ch, my God.

A lot?

A lot.

A lot. Okay. And when you run it, you know

where you're going.

A.
Q.

Yes,

You know the route?
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A, Yeah.

Q. Okay. But when the participants are running
it, they don't know the route?

A. No.

Q. Okay. And so now, do —— from your knowledge,
because you are not there, do the pregnant women ever
ask "Why are you asking me that?" I mean, I would
think that there are certain women who wouldn't want to
be asked that question. Do you agree with that?

A. Yes.

Q. Okay. I mean, you loock at a certain woman

and you say "Are you pregnant?"

"What?"
A. It's not asked like that. "Oh, you're
pregnant." 1It's — it's asked more of a — in a
succession of questions.

Q. "Are you pregnant?"

A. No. But it's asked in a succession of
questions.

Q. I understand.

A. 5o questions are being asked. It's not a ——
it's not a —- just a one question, "Are you pregnant?"
You're making it sound like that.

Q. It's one of the questions.

A. Correct.
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Q. And how many questions do you ask altogether?

A. It's four or five questions.

Q. Right. So it's not like there's 28 questions
and one of them is "Are you pregnant?" I mean, it's
actually not that many questions.

A. Correct. - ‘.;jygéﬁﬁ

Q. Fair enough? Okay. Now, one of the

questions is, "Are you a magician?"

A. Yes.
Q. Correct?
A, Yes.

Q. And the reason that you ask that question is

to protect the secret of the illusion.

A. Correct.

Q. Fair enough? Right?

A. Correct.

Q. OCkay. You also ask on —— I mean, I don't
mean to —— when I say you also ask, I don't mean it's
you.

A, I understand.

Q. Okay. 1It's also asked "Are you a member of
the press?"

A, Yes,
Q. Correct? And the reason for that question is

also to protect the secrets of the illusion?
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A, Correct.
Q. Fair enough? Okay.

Now, I know that you have, you know, been
asked these questions before. So am I correct that you
also ask "Are you a lawyer?" Or they ask "Are you a
lawyer?" And the reason for that question —— I'm going
to aék you, the —— one of the reésons is because you
think that someone could get injured? Is that true?
Yes or no.

A. No. I'm not exactly sure the reason that
question is there.

Q. Okay. But would you agree with me that
asking if someone's a lawyer is a strange question?

A. No.

Q. You don't think it's strange?

A. No.

Q. Okay. All right. Do you ask anybody if
they're doctors?

A. No.

Q. No. Accountants?

A. No.

Q. Generally speaking, when one wants to know if

someone is a lawyer, they're thinking they might get
sued. Is that true?

MR. POPOVICH: Objection. Speculation.
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THE COURT: He can state his opinion.
BY MR. MORELLI:

Q. I just want your opinion, Mr. Kenner. If
somebody asks somebody "Are you a lawyer?" if they're
singling out lawyers, as a group, people generally
think lawyers could sue them. True? Yes or no.

A. Sure. People can sue.

Q. Sure. Okay. So you would agree with me that
one of the possibilities of why that question is asked
is because you and your buddy, Mr. Copperfield, don't

want to get sued. Yes or no.

A. No. I don't think that's the reason for the
question.

Q. Okay. But is it possible that that's the
reason?

A. I guess it's possible.

Q. Okay. So now let's go a little bit further
on —— on the video you could watch there so that we ——
we see —— we're going to stop it just when
Mr. Copperfield is walking around with the possible

participants.
A. Got you.
Q. Okay?
(Whereupon video deposition was played.) -
MR. MORELLI: All right. Can you stop it,

104
JA000996




v 0 ~1 o UL b W N

N N NN NN KR PR R B R R R PR R B
U B W N P O W © 1 &6 B & W N B O

Mr. Deutsch, right theré.
BY MR. MORELLI:

Q. Okay. Now, you —-— you watched the
walk-around —— and it's not totally completed, but it's
almost completed. So I'm going to complete it in a
second.

Do you see Mr. Copperfield? What's he doing?

A. Just standing there, blurry.

Q. I'm not talking about right now; I'm talking
about in the wvideo that you just watched.

A, He's getting them —- he's walking them behind
this —

Q. Right .

A. —— kind of letting them understand this
follow-the-leader principle that's going to come in in

a minute.
Q. And so is he looking straight? Is he looking
to the right or left? 1Is he walking backwards?

A, He's walking around the platform.

Q. And they're just following him. He's not
looking at them at this point, really; he's just having
them follow him. Fair enough?

A. Correct. Correct.

Q. Okay.

MR. MORELLI: Want to finish it, Mr. Deutsch.

105
JA000997




NONN NN N R HHE B H H O H R
B B W N B O W © 4 60 0 & W b K O

MR. DEUTSCH: Okay.

(Whereupon video deposition was played.)

MR, MORELLI: Could you stop it there,

Mr. Deutsch.
BY MR. MORELLI:

Q. Can you —— this is — Mr. Kenner, I'm sorry.
But this is the best video that we have of this
particular thing.

A. Right.

Q. So just the best that you could see, because
I don't know how clear it is on your —

A. It's pretty clear.

Q. Okay.

Am I correct, sir, that, at this particular
peint, there's also more visual screening that goes on?
I think you said that to me earlier; correct?

A. Well, yeah, David would be making —— if he

has any —-—- any doubts at all, he will put them to the

side.

Q. Right. So —-

A. After anything that anyone else has said, he
would say —— you know, he would just put them to the

side. Get another chair, give this person a chair.
Q. Okay. And so one of the things that he would

be looking for is footwear; correct?
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A. Could -- could be one of the things, yes.

Q. Yeah, because I — I believe that they —
"they" meaning the team and —— and Mr. Copperfield —-
are screening out women in high heels; is that correct?

A. Yes.

Q. Okay. And one of the reasons or the
reason —— let me ask you — is the reason that they're
screening out women in high heels is because they're
going to be running, and if you are wearing high heels,
you can fall and get hurt. Fair enough?

A. Fair enough.

Q. Okay. And, also, I believe —— and you
correct me if I'm wrong —— that if, in fact, he's
visually screening -— Mr. Copperfield and his crew —
they're also looking to screen out people with other
kinds of footwear that may be a problem in the
runaround. Fair enough?

A. Correct.

Q. Okay. And one of those things —— or items of
footwear would be flip-flops®?

A. Correct.

Q. Okay. Now, the -- do you know — do you know
how far it goes with reference to screening out the
footwear? 1In other words, high heels, yes; flip-flops,

yes. Are there other kinds of footwear that maybe
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screen a person out?

A, Clown shoes.

Q. Okay.

A. I mean, if someone had a big shoe on a
foot —— you know, I mean, it's —— it's a visual

assessment of an odd shoe or an odd thing.
Q. Ckay.
A. If anything would impair that person
to —— to, you know, be able to do anything, yeah.
Q. Ckay. I mean, I don't know if you've ever

encountered somebody coming up with clown shoes on.

A. Yeah, you'd be surprised. No joke. You'd be
surprised at what —-- we've done, like, millions of
people in the show. Somebody's going to have —— we've

had a clown in the audience, Twister the Clown, sitting

in the audience. Long story.

Q. Okay. All right. So now we know which items
of footwear. What about —-- 'cause it could be any kind
of footwear that you're screening out.

Do you know exactly — I mean, do you screen
out people who are wearing, like, driving shoes that
aren't really appropriate for running?

A, No.

MR. POPOVICH: Objection. Argumentative as

to the last part.
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THE COURT: Sustained.
BY MR. MORELLI:

Q. Okay. So let's take the — we're going to
take the video back just a drop, Mr. Kenner, so that
you could see people walking up to the thing.

Now, before I do that, when they walk up

‘into —- what do they call it? —— "the box" or "the

cage" or ——
A, The Thirteen prop, I guess. We would always
just call it the Thirteen prop. We refer to it as just

the number 13. Thirteen, it's, like, an easy, quick

thing.
Q. So when they go up into their —— there is,
would you say, stadium seating? I mean, that's what it

has been referred to as ——

A. Yes, yes.

Q. ~— but you could tell me what you think.

A. Yes. Exactly.

Q. Okay. And so once they —-- they're walking up
to take those seats, basically, they're in. Because
the screening has been done, so the only thing that --
that they could do is say, "Hey, I want out of here"?

A. Correct.

Q. They could say that. But other than that ——

I'm talking about the screening now is basically done?
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A. Yes.

Q. Okay. So I'm just going to show you this.
And I want you to watch carefully. I don't know which
way is better for you to watch, the screen or here,
whichever way you would like.

A, I can watch here.

(Whereupon video was played.)

BY MR. MORELLI:

Q. Just watch them walking up and see if you can
see the footwear.

MR. DEUTSCH: Morelli?

BY MR. MORELLI:
Do you see any women there with high heels?

Yes.

o » ©

Okay.

A, Well, they're not high heels; they're heels.
There's two different -— stiletto is a —— there's many
women here on the jury that know a stiletto is a 6-inch
heel and —— and a high heel.

Q. I want you to watch. Okay?

(Whereupon video was played.)
BY MR. MORELLI:

Q.‘ Okay. Right there. Is she wearing high

heels?

A, In the red dress?

110
JA001002




w o - oy W N

N N N N NN H B B B R B B R oHER
O ok W N B O W ® 9 o 0 & W N H O

Q. Yeah.
A. It doesn't look like a high heel. It looks
like a clog heel maybe.

Q. All right. So that particular heel is
acceptable. 1Is —- are the stagehands told certain
inches that they have to deal with in terms of the
heel? Yes or no.

a. No.
Q. Okay. So let's look further.
(Whereupon video was played.)
MR. DEUTSCH: Morelli.
BY MR. MORELLI:
You see anybody there in flip-flops?
Flip—flops?

o » o

Yeah, just take a quick look if you can.

A. I can't quite tell. That gentleman with the
striped shirt here might have flip-flops on or — I
can't tell what his shoes are.

Q. Okay.

(Whereupon video was played.)
THE WITNESS: Yeah, they look like
flip—-flops.
MR. MORELLI: Yep. Go ahead.

(Whereupon video was played.)

MR. MORELLI: Okay. Let's have them all sit.
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(Whereupon video was played.)
BY MR. MORELLI:

Q. So now everybody is in the Thirteen or the

prop?

A, Yes.

Q. Okay. So that we —— as we see, there are
pecple with —- women with heels and there's a man in

flip—flops. Okay?

A, Yes.

Q. So, now, my question is, is there a protocol
with reference to that that nobody in high heels and no
one in flip—-flops? Yes or no.

A. Say the question again.

Q. Is there a protocol that no one with high
heels and no one with flip—-flops should be taken as a
participant? Yes or no.

A. It's not a simple yes—or—-no answer, but say
the question again one more time so I get it right.

Q. Sure. That's fine.

Is it a protocol that no one with high heels

or wearing flip—flops should be accepted as a

participant?
A. That's all part of the visual assessment.
Q. So the answer is yes?
A. Is?
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Q. Is it a protocol that they should be weeded
out?

A, That they ~— well, the person's making a
judgment if they should be weeded out. It would depend
on how a person is walking in a pair of heels or
walking in a pair of flip-flops or walking —— if
someone comes up and they have —— again, if you have
heels —— if you wear heels —— not ——

Q. Mr. Kenner, I ——

A. —— not flip-flops, you know, people walk
different. And it's -— it's part of the visual
assessment.

Q. I understand that you're doing this visual
assessment. My question is —— and I asked you this
question earlier and —— and I thought I knew your
answer, that there is a protocol that no one in high
heels should be taken.

Is that correct, or do you want to change
that?

A. Well, high heels —

Q. Just yes or no, Mr. Kenner.

A. No. High heels is —— is -- what's the —
explain high heels exactly to me.

Q. Mr. Kenner -—-

A. We would have no women on stage.
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Q. Is it a protocol that no one with flip-flops
should be accepted? Yes or no?

A. I don't see -— I do not have that protocol
sheet in front of me to answer that with a
1,000 percent yes or no.

Q. S0 you don't know?

You don't know?

A. It's —— as I've said before ——

Q. Is your answer you don't know?

A. —— it's a visual assessment. It's a visual
assessment.

Q. I understand that. But everybody knows what
flip—flops look like. We don't even have to measure
them; right?

So let's just take flip-flops so we're on the
same page. 1Is it a protocol that anyone in flip-flops
is weeded out of being a participant? Yes or no.

A. Yes.

Q. Okay. So am I correct, sir, that if, in
fact, one of these people had flip-flops on and they
were accepted to do the runaround, the illusion, that
was a breach of protocol? Yes or no.

A. Yes.

Q. Okay. Now, I know that you watched
carefully -— and I think we all did —-- when
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Mr. Copperfield was walking around and they were
following him.

A. Correct.

Q. Just —— just that one thing. That's all I'm
talking about. We'll call it the walk-around just for
us.

A. Perfect.

Q. Okay?

Would you consider that walk—around an
obstacle course? Yes or no.

A. No.

Q. Okay. Would you say that that walk-around is
mbre extreme than what they're going to have to do when
they're doing the runaround?

A. Are you asking me if there's more things that
they would have to walk over?

Q. No.

A. The answer is yes. There would be more
things they would have to walk over. So it's more of
an obstacle course.

Q. My question —— my question. Okay?

You were in the courtroom, were you not, when
you heard all the opening statements of the lawyers?

A, Yeah.

Q. Okay. Did you hear any lawyers say that that
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walk—around was more extreme than what they would have
to do later on? Did you hear anybody say that?

A. Maybe. I can't recall every single -- six
hours.

Q. Now, do you agree that that walk-around that
we just watched is more extreme than the runaround of
the route that they don't know about that they're going

to do? 1Is that walk—-around more extreme? It is; it

isn't?

A. It 1is.

Q. Okay. That's more extreme?

A. If you're talking about obstacles. You said
thé wdrd "obstacle." 8o, yes, it is extremely —— more
obstacle —

Q. You said it wasn't an obstacle course. Now
I'm asking you a different question.

Is it, in your opinion? If you think it is,
it is. 1Is it, in your opinion, that walk-around where
everybody's following Mr. Copperfield, is it more
extreme?

Why don't we watch it again, and then you'll
tell me what's extreme about it. Okay? Fair enough?

(Whereupon video was played.)
THE WITNESS: Can I stand up to point?

MR. MORELLI: Your Honor, can he stand so he
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can see?

THE WITNESS: I might want to point to the
screen if we get to a spot.
BY MR. MORELLI:

Q. Well, I'm not asking you to point. I don't
have a question.

A. Your question is if there's an — if it's
more extreme.

Q. I didn't ask you — there's no question right
now. We're just watching. I'll ask you a question as
we go.

A. Ckay.

(Whereupon video was played.)
THE WITNESS: Am I supposed to pause it at
any time?
BY MR. MORELLI:

Q. No, no, just — let's just watch the whole
thing.

(Whereupon video deposition was played.)
BY MR. MORELLI:

Q. Okay. So, now, that's the —- the
walk—-around?

A. Correct.

Q. All right. Now, my question to you is —

very straightforward question —— is that walk-around —
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let's forget about obstacles for a minute. Okay?

Is that walk-around more extreme for théséfﬁ?i
participants than what they're going to encounter
after? 1Is it more extreme?

A.. Describe extreme.
Q; I don't have to; it wasn't my term. Okay?

Do you think —— you understand what extreme
means. You're a smart guy.

Does that look, in your opinion —- and you

know more about this than any of us. Is it more

extreme than what they're going to encounter later on?

A. Yes.
Q. Yes or no?
A. Yes.

Q. Okay. So, in other words, you're saying that
that's more extreme than the runaround. Okay.

And —— and the reason that it's more extreme
is because this walk-around here, you have to walk
over, like, a cable or something like that as you're
walking around. Is that one of the things you have to
do?

A. You have to jockey back and forth between
lights and over cables ——
Q. Okay. You have to do a little jockeying as

you're walking with the lights on; is that correct?
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A.
Q.
correct?

A.

It's —— yeah.

You're walking with the lights on; is that

It might be darker back there than it is on

the runner.

Q.

Okay. So it's a little darker once in a

while. Okay. But you consider that more extreme?

A,

you want,

Yes.

Okay. So is it correct, Mr. Kenner --

Your Honor, this is a good time to break, if
for lunch. But I'll ask this last question.
THE COURT: Okay.

MR. MORELLI: Thank you.

BY MR. MORELLI:

Q.

Am I correct, sir, that, based on that

walk-around, which you just stated to the — to this

jury is more extreme than what they're going to

encounter
determine
runaround?

A.

Q.

A.

later on, that's one of the ways you

whether or not someone can complete the

Yes.

Fair enough?

Fair enough.

MR. MORELLI: Okay.

THE COURT: All right. We'll break for lunch
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now, ladies and gentlemen. We'll reconvene at 1:30.
During the recess, you're admonished not to
talk or converse among yourselves or with anyone else,
including, without limitation, the lawyers, parties,
and witnesses, on any subject connected with the trial
or read, watch, or listen to any report of or
commentary on the trial or any person connected with
the trial by any medium of information, including,
without limitation, newspapers, television, the
internet, and radio, or to form or express any opinion
on any subject connected with the trial until the case

is finally submitted to you.

Be outside the courtroom just before 1:30.
Okay .
THE MARSHAL: All rise.
(The following proceedings were held
outside the presence of the jury.)
THE M@RSHAL: All rise.
THE COURT: Okay. We're —— I was told
somebody has something to take up.

MR. ROBERTS: Your Honor, they just wanted to
confirm the witness, that because he was under ocath, he
was not allowed to talk to others about the substance
of the case until he had been released from the stand.

MR. MORELLI: Lee, I'm not going to make a
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big deal out of this. We just -

MR. DEUTSCH: Ms. Fresch informed them that
that was not appropriate, and we're all good.

Thank you, Your Honor.

THE COURT: All right.

MR. ROBERTS: All right. Thank you, Your
Honor.

(Whereupon a luncheon recess was taken.)

THE MARSHAL: All rise.

(The following proceedings were held in
the presence of the jury.)

THE COURT: You may be seated, ladies and
gentlemen. We're back on the record. Will counsel
stipulate that the jury is present?

MR. MORELLI: The jury is present.

MR. POPOVICH: Yes, Your Honor,

MR. ROBERTS: Yes, Your Honor.

THE COURT: All right. The witness has
retaken the stand. You may resume your examination,
Mr. Morelli.

MR. DEUTSCH: Your Honor, just for the
record, I don't think we ever officially moved into
evidence Exhibit 94, which is this video that we're
showing, officially. But I don't believe there's any

objections.
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MR. POPOVICH: No objection.
MR. ROBERTS: No objection.
THE COURT: Okay.
MS. FRESCH: No objection.
THE COURT: It's admitted.
(Whereupon, Plaintiffs' Exhibit 94 was
admitted into evidence.)
MR. MORELLI: Yeah, thank you.
BY MR. MORELLI:
Q. So good afternoon, Mr. Kenner.
A. Hello. Good afternoon.
Q. We're going to just —— and you could watch,

you know, the big screen or the small screen, either

way.
A. Got you.
Q. Let's just go a little bit further so that
you can explain to us what we're seeing. You know,

what -- where we are in the illusion. Fair enough?
A. Okay. Yeah. |
(Whereupon video was played.)
MR. DEUTSCH: Morelli. 7 T
MR. MORELLI: Can you stop it right there,
Mr. Deutsch?

BY MR. MORELLI:

Q. Okay. So in this wvideo, I see that there are
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young men sitting here.

A, Yes.
Q. Correct?
A, Yes, sir.

Q. And am I correct, sir, that some of the
people who are, for lack of a better term, weeded out,
let's say, not selected —-

A, Okay.

Q. —— are what the people who do the illusion
call young, hip mén; is that correct?

A. Sure. I guess that's the terminology used.

Q. Okay. And the reason to unselect them, for
lack of a better term, these young, hip men, is because
they're more apt to reveal the secrets of the illusion
if they participated. 1Is that fair?

A, Yeah. That would be part of it. Yes.

Q. Okay. Well, is that the whole reason or just
part of it? I mean, is the other part that they're not
physically able to do it? 1It's not that?

A. No. Sometimes we would —— sometimes you can
kind of think that they might be magicians and they
didn't tell us they were magicians.

Q. Okay.

A. That's a —— we have learned that through

history, that that does happen.
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Q. So it's not only that they —— well, it's
actually the same reason. Right? The same reason is
so that they don't reveal the illusion?

A, Correct.

Q. So it's the same reason. So these young, hip
men may not be telling the truth when you ask is anyone
a magician? Fair enough?

A. Fair enough.

Q. Okay. Okay. So now we'll go further, and
we're going to stop at just when the curtain goes down.
Okay?

A. Okay .

(Whereupon video was played.)
BY MR. MORELLI:

Q. Okay. Now, the curtain comes down. And,
before, Mr. Copperfield was talking about flashlights.
Remember that? You saw that?

A. Yep.

Q. And he emphatically told them, after he gave
it to them, to turn them off?

Correct.

And keep them off?

» o ¥

Correct.
Q. Correct? And, actually, there is a point

that we're going to look at that we're going to see
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flashlights behind the curtain, but that's not those
pecople turﬁing their flashlights back on. Correct?
A. Correct.
Q. Okay.
MS. FRESCH: Objection. Relevance and, Your
Honor, that —-- may we approach for a moment?
THE COURT: Yes.
(A discussion was held at the bench,
not reported.)
BY MR. MORELLTI:
Q. Okay. So, Mr. Kenner, the curtain is now
down. Okay?
A. Yes .,
Q. And we don't — we don't see anything.
(Whereupon video was played.)
MR. MORELLI: Just wait. Just wait.
BY MR. MORELLI:
Are the people still there?
Yes.

At that point?

» 0 » O

Yes. I don't think -- this is very quickly
after the curtain had dropped, so I don't think that
they have exited quite yet.

Q. Okay. So — okay. So it's —— it's possible
that they may have, but this is sort of around the
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time ——

A. That they would start.

Q. —— that they were going to start?

A, They don't —— they don’t just wvanish and
appear. You know, they have to get off of it.

Q. Right.

'A. David has to give a good —— all of the —— all
of the curtain closures are closed so that no one in
the audience can see in so that, you know, if they
aren't —— there's a little Velcro tab.

Q. Right.
A, The curtain falls down. There's a little
Velcro here, little Velcro here. Just make éure that

the front is covered so the wind or anything doesn't

flap it up —-

Q. Right.

A. —— or the pecple's movement inside.

Q. Right.

A, So everything's kind of Velcroed down.

Q. Okay. So why don't we watch this wvideo, and
you'll say what you say, which is they're not there

now, and you'll describe what we're seeing.
A. This is — this is very quick. It's almost
like you'll have to pause so I can say here's where he

lifts up the chair. Now, do I describe the method?
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THE COURT: Just one minute. Do you wan
the witness needs to be warned about our bench
conference.

MS. FRESCH: Yes, I think so.

THE COURT: So do you want to approach?

MS. FRESCH: Yes.

(A discussion was held at the bench,

not reported.)

THE COURT: Okay. We need to turn off any

microphones that are on, and you can admonish the

witness.
MR, MORELLI: So you don’'t need me.
MS. FRESCH: I don't think he needs me
either.
MR. ROBERTS: Thank you, Your Honor.
MR. MORELLI: All right?
THE WITNESS: Yes, I think so.
BY MR. MORELLI:

Q. Okay. I don't know what you talked about,

but whatever. All right.

A. I don't either, actually.
Q. That 's bad.
A. No, I'm kidding.
Q. Bad answer. Your lawyer's going to have a
heart attack.
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Anyways, why don't you describe —— you know,
we're going to go slowly and we'll stop, you know,
along the way. But you can even say stop, and then you
could describe what we should know.

A. We'll stop right here.

Q. Okay. Great.

A, So as soon as David has realized that the
entire curtain area is —-

Q. Is secured.

A. —— secured because the back curtain is a
U shape, so the side corners are going to be covered.

So it comes down. Everything's ready. And I think

David gives an actual verbal cue, may be '"good," "yes,"
something.

Q. Okay .

A, And that means that, at that point, the
people would start —— they would be preparing them to

exit.

Q. Okay.

A. Which is right now. As soon as it's good and
it's clear that those are closed, they would say.

Q. Okay. So when the curtain comes down, it's
not immediate?
A. Correct.

Q. Okay. Because the curtain has to come down
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and it has to be secured?

A. Correct.

Q. Fair enough?

A. Uh-huh.

Q. And then they're exiting?

A. They're's starting to exit, correct.

Q. Okay. Now, the — let's just stay at this

point just for a second. The exiting, is that done
quickly?

A. It's done as quickly and efficiently as it
possibly can.

Q. And —- because we have to get the
participants out of the chairs; correct?

A. Correct.

Q And have them exit?

A. Correct.

Q Okay. So —— and we're going —— we'll, you
know, after we get through with this wvideo, then we'll
show certain photographs that I'm going to ask you
about.

A, Okay.

Q. Okay? Now, am I correct, sir, that one of
the chairs of the Thirteen, while they're still in the
prop or the —— or in the 13 or the prop?

A. Prop is fine.
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Q. Okay. The —— goes down, and one of the

Backstage employees appears. Is that true?

A, No.

Q. Okay. You tell me.

A. The back curtain is lifted up.

Q. Okay.

A. So it's not a chair. The chair is still

there. The back curtain is lifted up, and a person is
going to hold it. And then there's a hook, up high, so
they can hook the other half, which make a large
opening with the cloth.

Q. See, I wasn't —
A. I did —— I'm not sure how to answer these
questions. |

Q. No, no. That's okay. You'll be able to tell
me the way you want to tell me. But my question was
does someone, a Backstage employee, appear in the prop
right before they exit?

A. Well, they're not magical, you know, bodies.

Q. I mean they come in. I mean, "appear"
meaning it's quick?

A. Yes.

Q. That's what I mean. And that person yells
"Stand up."

A. Correct.
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Q. Okay. And they yell it because the music is
playing?

A. Correct.

Q. And it's, you know, it's noisy and
everything, and they're in this confined space. So he
yells "Stand up. Hurry. Come with me.”

Does that sound right?

A. I don't know the exact words that he says.
It's probably —— at that moment he's not going to say
"Stand up. Hurry. Come with me" because a procedure
has to happen there. He has to —— you know, they're ——
they're blocked by the chairs, so if he just said
"Stand up. Come with me," it wouldn't work.

Q. See, that's where the —-

A, They'd be climbing over the chairs.

Q. So that's where he moves the chair?

A. Correct. He moves the top of the chair.

Q. Okay. And that creates the opening or the
exit?

A. Yes. Correct.

Okay. So let's take it from there.

(Whereupon video was played.)

BY MR. MORELLI:
Q. So they've gone already?
A. They're leaving now. They're exiting right
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now.

» © » ©O » O

Okay.

And that's one of our people.

Okay.

They're gone.

Okay. So they've already started the route?

Correct. They should be —— once these lights

come on, they are outside of the physical prop —-

Q.
A.
Q.
A,

Right.
—— once the group of lights comes on.
Yes. COkay.

Yeah, because one light comes on first and

then the group. Correct.

(Whereupon video was played.)

BY MR. MORELLI:

Q.

Now, during this time period, they're en

route, let's say. Right?

A.
Q.

theater?

A.

Q.

/1117

Correct.

They're en route to appear in the back of the

Yes.

Okay.

MR. DEUTSCH: That's the end.

MR. MORELLI: Okay. So that's the end.
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BY MR. MORELLI:
Q. Okay.
Okay.
MR. MORELLI: So we could turn it off.
We could put the lights on now, Your Honor.
BY MR. MORELLI:

Q. Now, am I correct, Mr. Kenner —— and we spoke
about this earlier, but now we're at a different point.
They've all left; they're en route?

A. Correct.

Q. And they don't know where they're going?

A, No.

Q. Okay. And, actually, at no time are they
told where they're going, what the route is, or what

they have to do in order to complete the illusion;

correct?

A. They're guided through the route.

Q. Well, my —— my question was, at no time are
they told what they have to do or where they're going

before they start this illusion?

A. Before they start, no. No, sir.

Q. Okay. And what you're saying is they're told
as they're running the route. Correct?

A. Correct.

Q. Okay. So let's —— yeah, give me that photo.
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MR. DEUTSCH: This is Exhibit 93, Bates —
MR. MORELLI: We can see it with the lights
on. I think we can. ‘
MR. DEUTSCH: Bates stamp 153.
BY MR. MORELLI:
Q. Okay. So Mr. Kenner ——
THE COURT: For the record, this is in
evidence?

MR. DEUTSCH: I believe.

THE CLERK: I do not believe so, Judge.

MR. DEUTSCH: I thought we had all ——

THE COURT: Take it off the screen until
we're ——

THE.CLERK: No, it has not been formally
admitted.

MR. DEUTSCH: Sorry. I thought we had when
we discussed ——

MR. MORELLI: We're going to unsee it now.

MR. DEUTSCH: We had discussed it this
morning, and I thought we had all agreed, and I thought
it was in evidence. But we are going to move this
photograph, which is going to be Exhibit 93A, and it's
Bates page 153 of Exhibit 93.

MR. MORELLI: You are allowed to know anyway.

THE WITNESS: Okay.
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MR. POPOVICH: Your Honor, just for ease,
because I think there's a number of these, can't we
call it 93-1537

MR. DEUTSCH: That makes it easier.

MR. MORELLI: Absolutely.

MR. POPOVICH: No objection.

MS. FRESCH: No objection.

MR. ROBERTS: No objection.

THE COURT: Admitted.

(Whereupon, Plaintiffs' Exhibit 93-153
was admitted into evidence.)

MR. MORELLI: 1It's just photos of different
places in the route. So let's bring up the first one.
BY MR. MORELLT:

Q. And, Mr. Kenner, why don't you tell us what
that's a photograph of?

A. It's a photograph of — it's the —-- what we
call the dragon. So that's what —-- where you see the

black cloth if I could -- can I stand up?

MR. DEUTSCH: Can we give him a pointer,
Morelli?

MR. MORELLI: Well, let me try.

MR. DEUTSCH: No, Morelli. Here.

MR. MORELLI: You talking about this black
cord?
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MR. DEUTSCH: Yeah.

THE WITNESS: That's the back center of the
prop. And then there's a little, it looks like,
hallway which is 10 feet. I'm sure you have
measurements.

BY MR. MORELLI:

Q. Yeah.

A. Then there's the steps down. So that’'s the
way —— oh, perfect. Okay. There we go.

MR. DEUTSCH: The laser won't work on a TV
screen, I was just told.

THE WITNESS: Darn it. I will try to not

point it at your eyes.

MR. DEUTSCH: I'm getting back in the
dumpster.

MR. MORELLI: Mr. Kenner can get up and point
to it. e
BY MR. MORELLI:

Q. Mr. Kenner, come around. We're not afraid of
you. Why don't you show us what you were going to tell
us.

A. This is the back of the Thirteen prop, and
then this is a little hallway, covered at the top, they
would come through and then step down the stairs. That

would be the first exit out of the prop. That would be
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part one of their journey.

Q. Okay. Thank you.

Now, after they come down those stairs and
exit the dragon, as you said, they then have to go into
the first hallway. Fair enough?

A. Yeah. They go down a little — backstage,
like the edge of the backstage, you know, it's hard to
describe.

Q. Right.

A. I would call it up —— up stage left —— right,
stage right. Is that right?

MR. DEUTSCH: Your Honor, at this time we'd
like to move in Exhibit 93-160.

MR. POPOVICH: Of the ones from the marking?

MR. DEUTSCH: Yeah.

5

POPOVICH: No objection.
. ROBERTS: No objection, Your Honor.

. FRESCH: No objection.

5 & B

. MORELLI: It will be easier if we put it
up.

THE COURT: 93-160 is admitted.

MR. DEUTSCH: Thank you.
(Whereupon, Plaintiffs' Exhibit 93-160
was admitted into evidence.) |

/1177
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BY MR. MORELLTI:

Q.

Okay. Can you see that, Mr. Kenner?
Yes, so —
Why don't you tell us what that is.

This is where they go when they come down

from the —

A.

Q.
A.

Correct.
—— the dragon?

I would say the dragon has a piece of cloth

on it that's 15 feet long, so they walk past that area

of the cloth, and it's very wide, very wide and open,

and then they come to this hallway. It's a little —

so that's —— that's ——- from that area that I would be

talking about would be approximately right here, you

know, the black cloth.

Q.

there.

Q.
A.

Q.

Right.

And then they'would go down that, go down

Okay.
And there's a person right here.

Right. And now they're —— they're told, are

they not, to make a right, make a left, go straight,

whatever they have to do?
A. Yes. It's essentially follow the leader.
Q. Well, you know, there —— there are times when
138
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there's 13 people. Am I correct?

A. Yes. |

Q. Right. So if the leader's in the front and
No. 13 —

A. That's not how follow the leader works.

Q. Huh?

A. You follow the leader. The next person
follows the next person, the next person follows the
next.

Q. I understand.

A. That's follow the leader. Each person
becomes the leader.

Q. I understand. Thank you.

The first person is the person who works for
you?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. Okay. And that person is, on the night of
this accident, the 12th of November, 2013, was

Mr. Carvalho?

A. Yeah.

Q. Okay. So he's the leader; correct?

A. That's him right there, actually.

Q. Right.

A. Handsome young guy.

Q. And, actually, he —— well, we're going to
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meet him. Okay?

A. Cool.

Q. We're going to meet him. And he has a big
spotlight; c¢orrect?

A. Yes.

Q He doesn't have a reqular flashlight?

A. He has a big spotlight.

Q He's got a big spotlight. And it's important
for him to have this big spotlight because he's leading
the way? Fair enough?

A. Yeah. Two reasons. That's one of them.

Q. One of them is he's leading the way?

A. Yes.

Q. And it's important for him to, along the
entire route, to have the flashlight on. Ckay? Would
that be true?

A, I don't think it is, because what it's really
for —— what the flashlight is really for is to give to
her. So he's not sitting there going —— guiding the
route in front of him or behind him because he's going
forward.

Q. Let's call it the spotlight.

A. Okay.

Q. So we're going forward. And, now, that was

the second —— the second photograph is where they

140
JA001032




o 0w O~ o bW N

N NN N NN HFH B B R B B B OpBoRE R
b W N B O W ©® ~1 oo L1 b W N B O

encounter; is that correct?
A. Correct.

Q. Okay. Now, am I correct, sir, that this

route —— and we're going to go through the whole
route —— this route is all done in approximately a
minute?

A. Yeah, a minute, minute 15, minute 20, yeah.

Q. Yeah. And that's important; right?

A, Yeah,

Q. It's important —— my father would say time is
of the essence. Yes?

A, Yes.

Q. Okay. 2And so it's not true, is it, that
there's no rush, that somebody could just hang around
and take as long as they want, five minutes, ten
minutes? That's not true, is it?

A. No. Of course not.

Q. Of course not. 1It's ridiculous.

So the participants are now moving, running
as quickly as they can, to get to the final destination
that they don't know about. They don't know where

they're going. They don't know the final destination?

A. They're heading toward their final
destination.
Q. They're heading toward it. Okay.
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MR. MORELLI: So could we have the next
photograph, Mr. Deutsch.
BY MR. MORELLI:

Q. And, Mr. Kenner, tell me if this is not the
sequence. Okay?

A. Of course. 1I'll tell you.

Q.  Okay.

MR. DEUTSCH: Your Honor, this is —— we'd
like to move Exhibit 93, page 168, into evidence.
MR. POPOVICH: No objection.
MS., FRESCH: No objection.
MR. ROBERTS: No objection.
THE COURT: 1It's admitted.
(Whereupon, Plaintiffs' Exhibit 93-168
was admitted into evidence.)
BY MR. MORELLI:

Q. Okay. You could see it either place now.

A. Got it.

Q. Okay. And so in the sequence —- is this the
proper sequence that I'm — that —— that we've been
looking at?

A, Correct. 1It's a weird angle to shoot it
from, but yes.

Q. This is all we have.

A. Okay. I can describe —— I can explain it
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really easily, but I can just —

Q. So now — so now the —- the participants are
running down this particular hall; right? And then,
when they get to the end of this particular hall, do
they make a right? a left? go straight? What do they
do? |

A, A left.

Q. Okay. So let's — let's bring up the next
photograph. They've already made a left now, and
they're —— we're in the next photograph.

Hello?

MR. DEUTSCH: This is Exhibit 93, 167, into
evidence, please.

MR. POPOVICH: No objection.

MS. FRESCH: No objection.

MR. ROBERTS: No objection.

THE COURT: Any objection from Team?

MR. STRASSBURG: Sorry, Judge?

THE COURT: No objection?

MR. STRASSBURG: No.

THE COURT: Everybody. We need to hear from
everybody.

MR. MORELLI: You see what I have to deal
with; right?

(Whereupon, Plaintiffs’ Exhibit 93-167
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was admitted into evidence.)
BY MR. MORELLI:
Q. Okay. Could we have the photograph now.
Okay. Here it is.

A. Okay. Just made their left.

Q. Okay. Now, this is —— and —— and, of course,
always tell me if I got it wrong.

This is hallway number three; right?
Which —-

A, Yeah.

Q. I'm calling it hallway.

A, Yeah, yeah. The first one is really short,
but yeah.

Q. Hallway number three. And at the end of this
particular hallway —— I'm standing over here. At the
end of this particular hallway, they're now going
outside?

A. Correct.

Q. That's why it —— the doors are open and you
could sort of see outside?

A, Uh-huh.

0. Correct?

Okay. So, now, when they —— when they exit
those doors, do they go straight, do they make a right,
or do they make a left?
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A. They make a right.

Q. Okay. So now, as they're running along, the
person in the front, Mr. Carvalho, is he the one that's
yelling the instructions?

MR. POPOVICH: Objection. Compound.
THE COURT: Sustained.
BY MR. MORELLI:

Q. Is Mr. Carvalho the one who's yelling the
instructions as they're running, following him?

A. No.

Q; Okay. So are there people at the doors who
are going to be telling them which direction to go?

A, Correct. There's a person at each
intersection, guiding them so they don't get lost.

Q. Now, those people who are guiding them are

fixed. They're in —— they're in a certain position.
A. Correct.
Q. They're not running along; they're in a

certain position.

A. Correct.

Q. Okay. And those people are Backstage
employees or MGM Grand employees?

A. The people that are standing at these
spots —

Q. Yeah.
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A. —-— are MGM employees.

Q. Okay. And at those doors?

A. Right. They're still under our blanket of
stagehands, so —

Q. Right. They're still stagehands, but they're
MGM employees?

A. Correct.

Q. Okay. So now they —— they run down and they
get to the end, and they're told by one of the MGM
stagehands to make a right.

A. Yes, here. Correct.

Q. Over here.

And they're now outside. Okay? Now, could
you tell us, Mr. Kenner, what surface is this here?

A. Linoleum, I think.

Q. Okay. And one of the surfaces from before
was carpeting; correct?

A. I don't think there's any carpeting on the
walk, no.

Q. Okay.

A. I'm pretty sure there's no carpeting.

Q. As I said, we're just going to look just to
be clear.

A. Yeah. I walk it every day. I can't, like —

my brain shuts off on what I'm walking on.
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Q. That's okay. What about this?

A. Yeah, that's carpét. So yeah.

0. Okay. All right. So now we could go back to
the last photo.

So you went from carpet to Kentile, or
linoleum, to outside which is concrete; fair?

‘A. Correct.

Q. Okay. So now they made a right, and they're
running outside on what? Like a sidewalk?

A. Yes.

Q. Okay. And it doesn't matter, you know,
whether it's Tropicana Avenue or XYZ Street or
whatever, they're running on concrete that's like a
sidewalk. Fair enough?

A, Yes.

Q. Okay. And now they run along. And it's dark
out, is it not?

A. It's nighttime.

Q. Yeah. 1Is that a yes?

A. Well, I describe dark in lLas Vegas. These
people live in Las Vegas and they've driven down
Tropicana. It's extremely bright.

Q. Yeah, but, you see, we've already been told
we're not on Tropicana Avenue. So ——

A. All right. Well, it's literally from here to
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the wall.
Q. We're going to be looking at —— at a
photograph of it. Okay?
A. Perfect.
MR. DEUTSCH: Your Honor, at this time, we'd
like to move in Exhibit 93-170.
MR. POPOVICH: No objection.
MS. FRESCH: No objection.
MR. STRASSBURG: No objection.
MR. ROBERTS: No cbjection.
THE COURT: Admitted.
(Whereupon, Plaintiffs' Exhibit 93-170
was admitted into evidence.)

BY MR. MORELLI:

Q. Okay. Does that show where they're running?
A. Yeah, it's so changed now. Yeah.

Q. The —

A, Yes.

Q. Understand that —— that this particular
photograph was taken with a flash. Okay? So — but it
is dark out; correct?

A, Correct. So it blows out the background,
makes it look darker,.

Q. So I'm not trying to trick you.

No, I'm just saying that's what a flash does.
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Q. Believe me, this is up —— up to them, not you

and I. We don't make the decisions, thank God.
So from here are they going to make —

they're going to go straight, make a left, or make a
right?

A. They're going to go here and go right.

Q. Okay. Now, while they're running along with
the rest of the pack, they don't know at that
particular time if they're making a right or a left or

going straight until they encounter another point

person. Is there another point person — another
MGM —

A. Correct.

Q. —-— person?

A. Correct.

Q. Okay. And that person is standing, let's
say, over here on the left. They're running here.
They have to make a right —

A. Could you bring your photo back up. I could
show you.

MR. DEUTSCH: I think this might be better,
Your Honor. Exhibit 93-171, we'd like to move into
evidence.

THE COURT: 93 what?

MR. DEUTSCH: 171.
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MR. POPOVICH: No objection.
MS. FRESCH: No objection.
MR. ROBERTS: No objection.
MR. STRASSBURG: No objection.
THE COURT: Admitted.
(Whereupon, Plaintiffs' Exhibit 93-171
was admitted into evidence.)
THE WITNESS: Perfect.
BY MR. MORELLI:
Q. That 's better.
A. Can I stand up and walk to the screen?
THE COURT: Yes.
BY MR. MORELLI:
Q. Of course. Go ahead.
So, at this point, a person was standing
about where he is.
Q. You're probably better off standing here so
the jury can see.
A. Well, I'm going to point to here, though.
That's all right.
Just using my theatrical experience.

It's the long—arm method.

» 0 O

The long arm? That's funny.
So the -- and, here, it's not —— the way he

was describing it was that they're standing here and
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the people run by. It's —— they've gotten used to the
fact that a person —- they come toward a person,
there's a person standing there, and they're saying,
"This way. This way. This way." So that they head
off the person at the pass, and then they turn them.

So now they go here. There's a person
standing right here. |

Q. Right. On the point.

A. And they come here and they go this way. So
he's telling them to turn right here and go this way.
And it's rather obvious because there are open doors
there and people are going that direction. So it's not
like it's a confusing situation.

0. Well, just to be fair —— Mr. Kenner, you can

take a seat.

A, Thank you.

Q. Just to be fair, when they're running this
way —— now, let's assume for a moment that this is what
we're talking about because this is a better photo than

the other one, I think.

A. Ch, yeah.

Q. Running this way, you can't see the doors
yet; correct? You can't see the doors —

A. Correct.

Q. —— from this perspective?
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There's no doors?

A. This is deceiving in the fact that these are
all very short distances.

Q. Mr. Kenner, I know you want to say certain
things. Your lawyer is going to have a chance to
question you, and you can clean up anything you want.

Fair enough?

A. Sure.

Q. But it's just my questions because I'm going
to try to finish in this lifetime.

So you're running down here. You can't see
the doors. And is it the person who's standing on the
point or approximately here who says "Turn right”?

A, Yes.

Q. .Okay. Now, you would —— you would admit
that, generally speaking, there's approximately 13
people running. Is that true?

A, Yes.

Q. Okay. Now, you were there on November 12th,
2013; correct?

A. Yes.

Q. And do you know -—- and —- and what.—— you
know, I'm not asking you whether you remember
specifically that night. Okay? But do you know at

this time whether or not there were 13 people or fewer?
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did not.
Q.
there are
route?
A,
Q.
A,

trick.

o » O

I don't know. I didn't count the people.

Okay. So —— but I am correct, sir, that

times when as few as three people do the

I have never heard that less of a number.

Okay.

So I —-- that would be — that's not much of a

What's the least that you've heard?
Heard? I —

Five? Six"?

I don't know. I don't — it could be five or

six. I can't — I don't know that we would go that low

of the amount of people.

Q.

isn't something that —— that you know in terms of how

many people are doing the trick on any given night?

A.

Okay. Okay. So —— so it really — it really

Yeah. We've done 20,000 shows with this.

can't keep track of them all.

Q.

Well -- okay.

MR. DEUTSCH: Morelli.

MR. MORELLI: Okay. Why don't we have the

next -— yeah, the —— the —— yes. Okay. Good.

MR. DEUTSCH: All right. Your Honor, we'd

I
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like to move to admit Exhibit 93-173.

MR.
MS,
MR.

‘MR,

POPOVICH: No objection.
FRESCH: No objection.
ROBERTS: No objection.

STRASSBURG: None here.

THE COURT: Admitted.

(Whereupon, Plaintiffs' Exhibit 93-173

was admitted into evidence.)

BY MR. MORELLI:

Q. Okay. Now —- and, Mr. Kenner, anytime I

misspeak, just tell me. Okay?

A, OCkay.
Q. The participants are coming toward us —
A, Correct.
Q. —— if we're in this photograph —-
A. Correct.
Q. — right?
And they're going to make a right?
A. Correct.
Okay?
Now, the —— obviously, this photo was not

taken the same night of the accident, 'cause you could

see the date.

sea that?

A, Yes.

It's almost a year later. OCkay? You
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Q. Okay. So now the —— they turn right. And
there's an incline there; is that correct?

A. Yes.

Q. Okay. Now, did you -- did you warn any 6f
these participants that there —— they were going to be

running up an incline in the dark?

A. No.

Q. Just yes or no.

A. No.

Q. Okay. Did you think it was important to do

that? Yes or no.

A. No.

Q. Okay. Do you think that running in the dark,
not knowing where you're going, there's a possibility
that someone can fall and get injured?

MR. POPOVICH: Objection. Assumes facts.
BY MR. MORELILTXI:

Q. Yes or no.

THE COURT: What's the objection?

MR. POPOVICH: Assumes facts not in evidence.

THE COURT: Well, he's seeking to adduce
evidence, so overruled.

MR. MORELLI: All right. Can I have the
question read back, please.

(Record read by the reporter.)
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BY MR. MORELLI:

Q. Yes or no.

A, What's dark? That's —

Q. Mr. Kenner ——

A. —— Jjust —— yes, then.

Q. Okay. Do you think that someone running in -

the dark up an incline makes it even more dangerous?
Yes or no.

A. Yes.

Q. And if that's true, don't you think that it
would be prudent to warn people that that's what they
were going to encounter? Yes or no.

Would it be prudent?

A. Yes,

Q. Okay. Now, do you know that —— do you know
who Mr. Habersack is?

A. Yes.

Q Ckay. Why don't you tell the jury who he is.

A. I think he's head of safety at the MGM Grand.

Q Ckay.

A. Or I don't know if head is his title. 1It's
something of safety.

Q. Yeah, I think he's the head of risk
management: .

A. Yeah, risk management.
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Q. But similar to safety.
And do you know that — that he stated —
Do we have his exact quote?
MR. DEUTSCH: Sure. Give me one second.
BY MR. MORELLI:
Q. I'm going to read you the quote and just see

if you agree with him or not. Have you had

conversations with him, by the way, about this —- this
particular —-

A. No. Actually, first time I ever met him
was —

Q. Was in the courtroom?

A, Yes.

Q. Page 64, line 13. And I'm just going to read
to you what he said under oath.

MR. POPOVICH: If I can have a moment to get
there, please.

MR. MORELLI: Sure.

MR. POPOVICH: 64/13, was it?

MR. MORELLI: 64 —— yeah, 13 is really where

it starts. After "I mean."

See where it says "I mean"?

MS. FRESCH: No.

MR. POPOVICH: So the question begins at
line 27
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MR. MORELLI: The question begins at —— at
line 2, yeah.

MR. POPOVICH: No objection.

MR. MORELLI: Okay.

BY MR. MORELLI:
Q. So this is part of his answer, but it's
specifically what he said. Okay?

He said that "I mean, any prudent person
would, would be my answer. I would hope that they
would explain to the customer, or through whateverl
vetting process that they have, prior to the illusion
to make sure that the —— make sure the person —
participants are actually able to maneuver this and

perform it."

Okay? Did you —— did you ever hear him tell
you that?
A, No, I didn't hear him tell me that.
MR. MORELLI: That's not the exact quote.
It's the incline quote.

Okay.
MR. DEUTSCH: 64, line 11.
BY MR. MORELLI:
Q. So, now, if Mr. Habersack thought that the
pecple who were about to participate in the illusion

should be warned, you would agree with him?
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A, No.
Q. Okay. So, once again, Mr. Kenner, I'm going
to read you the question and the answer —— okay? —— so

that we have it clear.

"QUESTION: So with that in mind, would
you expect that Mr. Copperfield would warn his
participants of the elevation change as they're
participating in the act?"

And that's when he then said, "I mean, any

prudent person would, would be my answer."

Okay?

So you'd disagree with him that that had to

be done?
A. Correct.
Q. Okay. Now, all of the screening that's
done —— and I believe you told me this earlier, but —

ig done for safety reasons?

A. Yes.
Q. Right?
And one of the —— one of the reasons that you
do all of this screening, visual and questions —— some
of the questions —— is to make sure that the

participants are kept safe; correct?
A. Correct.

Q. Okay. So, now, they're being kept safe from
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something; correct?
Correct. I mean, you're keeping them safe
from something?

A, Yes.

Q. Right. I mean, that's obwvious; right?

Okay. And are they being kept safe from
falling and being injured?

A. I guess you could say that's part of it.

Q. It would have to be; right?

A. Yeah.

Q. Yeah. And were they also being kept — are
they being kept safe from bumping into one another and
maybe getting injured even if they don't fall? 1Is that
fair?

A. Sure.

Q. Okay. And that is also true of pregnant
women; correct? I mean, they're part of thergroup that
you're trying to keep safe; right?

A. Yeah, but pregnant women is a different
animal .

Q. Okay. Not going to use that term, but okay.

What you mean is that there might be
additional reasons with reference to pregnant women?

A. Correct.

Q. Okay. But, certainly, the reasons that would
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be true of everyone else would be true for pregnant
women too; correct?
A. Sure.
Q. Sure.

So can we have the next photograph.

MR. DEUTSCH: Give me one second.

MR. MORELLI: Okay.

MR. DEUTSCH: All right. This is Exhibit 90,
page 62.

THE COURT: So it's 90.

MR. DEUTSCH: With the agreed—upon removals,
Ms. Fresch.

MS. FRESCH: Okay.

THE COURT: 90-627

MR. DEUTSCH: Yes. And the one that goes
into evidence, Your Honor, is going to be subject to
some redaction, but I've redacted for the purposes of
our prior discussions.

MR. POPOVICH: No objection.

MS. FRESCH: No objection.

MR. ROBERTS: Assuming the words have been
taken off. 1Is that what —

MR. DEUTSCH: Yeah, the redactions that we
talked about. Do you want to take a look or you trust

me?
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MR. ROBERTS: I trust you.

MR. DEUTSCH: Okay. Thank you.

MR. STRASSBURG: No objection.

THE COURT: Admitted.

(Whereupon, Plaintiffs' Exhibit 90-62
was admitted into evidence.)

MR. MORELLI: Now they're trusting each
other.

Is this the photo that we're locking at?

MR. DEUTSCH: Yeah. It's the next one inside
the doorway. Okay. Sorry.

MR. MORELLI: We're not up to this yet.
BY MR. MORELLT:

Q. Trying to follow along, so it's sort of
sequential?
A. Yes.

MR. DEUTSCH: Okay? So this is going to be
Exhibit 4 —— Defendant's 403, Exhibit 8, No. 8.

THE COURT: What's the designation?

MR. DEUTSCH: D403, No. 8.

Any objection?

MR. POPOVICH: No objection.

MR. RUSSELL: No objection.

MR. STRASSBURG: No objection.

THE COURT: Okay. Apparently, it's a
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stipulated exhibit.

MR. DEUTSCH: I thought so.

THE COURT: All right. |

MR. MORELLI: I think it was already agreed
to, yeah.

MR. DEUTSCH: Okay.
BY MR. MORELLI:

Q. Okay. Now, Mr. Kenner, let's — am I correct
that we're looking toward the street now?

A. Yes.

Q. Right. From the building or close to the
building?

A. Yes.

Q. Okay. And this photograph was taken actually
the night of the accident, just to tell you. This is
actually November 12th, 2013. Okay? Now, the night of
this particular accident, now we're looking —— the
participants, and you correct me if I'm wrong,

Mr. Kenner.

A. Yeah. I'm looking at the picture.

Q. I know. But I'm pointing. So they're coming
around the corner?

A. Yes.

Q. And they're going this way?

A. Coming toward.
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Q. Towards the —-

A, Towards this camera.

Q. Okay. Good. Sorry. So now ——

A, You are better on this side.

Q. Yeah, I know, I know, but I didn't want to
block you.

So they're coming —-- they're coming toward
the building. Now, the night of this accident,
November 12th, 2013, did you yourself walk, run, trot,

that particular route —-

A. No.
Q. —— before it happened?
A. No.

Q. Okay. So that you didn't know that there was
construction dust on this particular route? You didn't
know that, did you?

MR. POPOVICH: Objection, Your Honor.
THE COURT: Sustained.
BY MR. MORELLI:

Q. You didn't know —-— well, you were in the
courtroom when Mr. Popovich says that there was dust on
the ground at this particular point. Were you here
when he said that?

A. Yes.

i
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Q. Okay. So let's talk about the dust that
Mr. Popovich is talking about. Okay? You didn't know
that this dust was this —— was on the route where the
participants had to run, did you?
A, Well, what —-
MR. CALL: Object, Your Honor. Facts not in
evidence.
MR. ROBERTS: Mr. Popovich ——
THE COURT: Overruled.
MS. FRESCH: 1It's not —-—
MR. ROBERTS: Mr. Popovich said it's not
evidence, Your Honor.
THE COURT: You're right. I will retract
that. Sustained. |
BY MR. MORELLI:
Q. Did you know, Mr. Kenner, of any construction

dust on the route that these participants had to run?

A. No.
MR. CALL: Objection. Calls for speculation.
THE COURT: He's asking whether he knew.
Overruled.
THE WITNESS: No.
BY MR. MORELLI:

Q. Okay. Now, my question is, if you did know,

would that have made you change the route of the
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illusion that particular night?

MR. POPOVICH: Objection. Calls for
speculation. Incomplete hypothetical.

THE COURT: Overruled.
BY MR. MORELLI:

Q. Yes or no.

A. Say the question again.

Q. Sure.

A. Because I'm just looking at this picture

versus this one in there. This one is a little bit

different.

Q. Mr., Kenner -—

A. I'm just saying they look different.

Q. Mr. Kenner, I understand that you want to
keep talking.

A. I will let you keep talking.
Q That's my job.

A. I see that.

Q I get paid to talk.

My question is that if you knew that there
was dust on the concrete on the route that the
participants were running that night, would you have
changed the route? Yes or no.

A. No.

Q. Okay. Do you think that construction dust on
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concrete could be slippery? Yes or no.

A, I don't know if it's slippery or not.

Q. Okay. Would it be important for you to know
if there are any obstacles, physical obstacles, along
the route where the participants are running? Would
that be important for you to know?

A. Tes.

Q. Okay. So if you knew that there was, you
still wouldn't do anything about it?

MR. POPOVICH: Objection. Vague. Ambiguous.
THE COURT: Sustained.

BY MR. MORELLI:

Q. Okay. Now, I'm going to read to you —
MR. DEUTSCH: Wait. We have to move into
evidence — at this time we offer Defendant's
Exhibit 409, page 34.

MR. MORELLI: Right. 1It's D409, 34.

MR. DEUTSCH: 1It's Team Construction. It was
agreed upon already.

THE COURT: 1It's a stipulated exhibit?

MR. DEUTSCH: It was a stipulated exhibit,
Your Honor.

MR. POPOVICH: What page was that?

MR. DEUTSCH: Page 34 of the Team

Construction docs, Defendant's 409.
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BY MR. MORELLI:

Q. Do you agree, Mr. Kenner, the statement made
by Team Construction in this case, under "Poor
Housekeeping” — and you could read it for yourself;
the jury could see it —- "anything left lying around
becomes a slipping or a tripping hazard."

Do you agree with that?

A. Yes.

Q. Okay. So if, in fact, it was construction
dust on the concrete, would that fall in to the

category of "anything"?

MR. POPOVICH: Obijection. Calls for
speculation.

THE COURT: I don't even know what
construction dust is. He needs to have an

understanding of that term.

THE WITNESS: There's c¢onstruction —— there's
dust on the carpet here. There's dust on this. Super
slippery. I mean, I don't know how to —

BY MR. MORELLTI:

Q. Do you want to answer my question or do you
want to just have a conversation with someone?

A. What's the question?. What is — read back
the question.

MR. MORELLI: Well, you were busy talking.

168
JA001060




w w - oy e W R

NN N NN H R R R B R B BB PR
;e W N R O YW O d oyn W N O

Could you read it back for him?
| (Record read by the reporter.)
THE WITNESS: Sure.
BY MR. MORELLI:

Q. Now, you would agree with me, Mr. Kenner,
would you not, that after they run through that area on
the concrete, they then run back into the building?

A. Correct.

Q. Correct? And they run into an area that's
éalled, like, a loading zone or something like that?

A, I think it's an exit. I think it's an

emergency exit.

Q. Okay. And — but there's another set of
doors after those set of doors —

A. Correct.

Q. —— correct? 8So you —— you go through the set
of doors that, let's say, were open that night for them
to run in?

A. Correct.

Q. Right? And then you have —— I don't know.
What would you call it? Like a vestibule or, you
know ——

A. It's like an empty hall, a big empty hallway.

MR. DEUTSCH: Just showing Exhibit 62, Your

Honor, just admitted. Exhibit 90, Plaintiffs' 90-62.
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THE WITNESS: Yeah. Michael Meyers.

MR. MORELLI: We can make it a little bigger
there.

MR. DEUTSCH: I can try.

MR. MORELLI: The hallway is not that small.
Okay. There we go.
BY MR. MORELLI:

Q. And that's —-- and that's where they —- they
run in toward us; correct?

A. I'm trying —— I'm not sure what the
orientation is.

Q. Yeah?

A. Is this door open from the —— is that the
outside? Because both doors, if you were.standing in
the center of the room and you went like this
(indicating), that door looks the same as that door.

Q. Got it.

A. I'm not sure. I think he's standing, and
that's the outside.

MR. DEUTSCH: I might be able to help it.
Give me one second.

THE WITNESS: So, yeah.

MR. MORELLI: We're going to get the answer
of which perspective we are looking at.

MR. DEUTSCH: Give me one second. Same

170

JA001062




W O - oy ol W N

NN NN NN R R H R RH R B B R &
Bl & W N B O W W 1 o & W N H O

exhibit, Your Honor, but I just got to redact
something. Maybe this will help.
MR. MORELLI: Can you make it bigger?
MR. DEUTSCH: I'm trying. There you go.
MR. MORELLI: Okay.
BY MR. MORELLTI:
Q. Does that help us?
A. It's too different. That's both directions.
So you got —— that's looking —— one of those is facing
one way; one is facing the other.
Q. Right. Why don't you tell us which ig facing
which way.
A. That's like a security hallway. I really
don't go in that hallway very often.
Q. Okay.
A. So I'm assuming. My assumption, by looking,
is that the one with the light —
Q. Right.
A. —— that's facing to the outside. They would
be coming in that door.
Q. Okay.
A. And then the one with the —
Q. Now you're talking about the one on the left?
A, I'm sorry. I'm sorry. Yeah. The one with
the light.
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With the light, yeah. The one on the left.
They would be coming in from there. .

Right.

And then they would go —

Then they would be going --—

Through there, to there, into there.

© » © B0 PO

All right. Got it.
Okay. So now, after they do that, they then
run into the kitchen. True? |

A. I think right there they're gathered
together. This will be a — better described by the
person that actually physically does this part.

Q. Okay. So your answer is "I don't know"?

A. My answer is they stop there, gather. What
he says exactly to them —

Q. No, no. But —— but before they get into the
theater, they run through the kitchen.

A. They don't run. 1It's impossible to run
through the kitchen.

Q. Okay .

A. = But they go through the kitchen.

Q. Okay. They move as quickly as possible
through the kitchen.

A. Yeah.

MR. DEUTSCH: Your Honor, at this time we
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would like to move in Exhibit 403, page 9.

THE COURT: Okay. It's a stipulated exhibit.

MR. MORELLI: We're going to show —

MR. POPOVICH: It is not stipulated, Your
Honor. 1I'm going to object to its relevance.

MR. DEUTSCH: It is 403, page 9.

MR. POPOVICH: Correct. It is not.

MR. DEUTSCH: You sure?

Right. I thought it was, Your Honor. But,
if not, then can everyone see what it is?

MS. FRESCH: Can I join the objection? 1It's
not relevant.

MR. POPOVICH: We might need to approach
because I think it might affect the next few
photographs, Your Honor.

MR. DEUTSCH: It is stipulated, Your Honor.

THE COURT: I thought the clerk's notes —-

THE CLERK: It came in on April 1llth.

THE WITNESS: 1Is there any way I can text on
my phone?

MR. MORELLI: All right. It's been
stipulated to, Your Honor.

THE WITNESS: I need to make sure my wife's
going to pick up my daughter.

MR. MORELLI: Your Honor, we can take a break
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for two seconds. Why don't we just take ——

THE COURT: Take the afternoon recess now?

MR. MORELLI: Yeah. OQuarter to three anyway.

THE COURT: Okay. We'll recess. Do you want
15 minutes? We'll recess till 3:00.

Ladies and gentlemen, you're admonished once
again not to talk or converse among yourselves or with
anyone else, including, without limitation, the
lawyers, parties, and witnesses on any subject
connected with the trial or read, watch, or listen to
any report of or commentary on the trial or any person
connected with the it by any medium of information,
including, without limitation, newspapers, television,
the internmet, and radio, or to form or express any
opinion on any subject connected with the trial until
the case is finally submitted to you.

Be outside the courtroom, down to the south a
little bit, just at 3:00 o'clock. Thank you. |

THE MARSHAL: All rise.

THE COURT: I'd like counsel to remain,
please.

(The following proceedings were held
outside the presence of the jury.)

THE COURT: All right. You may be seated.

And you are admonished, of course, not to
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discuss ——

THE WITNESS: Just two seconds.

THE COURT: No, I understand that. I have
already recessed for 15 minutes. Okay.

I would like the people from the media here,
who are with cameras and recording equipment, you're --
during recesses, the cameras are to be turned off;
correct? And during any bench conferences, you know
already that any bench microphones are to be turnéd
off. Correct?

UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER: Correct.

THE COURT: All right.

MR. MORELLI: Okay.

THE COURT: Okay.

MR. POPOVICH: Do you want to deal with the
issue now?

THE COURT: The issue about the exhibit?

MR. POPOVICH: Right.

THE COURT: Oh, okay.

MS. FRESCH: I mean ——

THE COURT: That's fine. I thought —

MR. DEUTSCH: I'm still here. I'm e-mailing
him something he didn't have.

MR. POPOVICH: Exhibit 403 is a batch of

photos, Your Honor. And the defense — it was listed
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as defense exhibits, and there were no objections, and
I believe that's how they came in. In looking at what
plaintiffs propose today —— and my understanding is
that, yes, they were preadmitted under 403.

The concern is, the next series of objections
show portions of the route that Mr. Cox never reached,
including the going back into the casino, going through
the kitchen area. And the position is, it's
irrelevant. He never got there. It played no part in
the accident. What's the point in wasting time with
this jury, going through the areas that he did not
reach?

So that is the argument. And I don't even
know if it's possible, but if it's possible to withdraw
our stipulation to those that are post area of the
fall, T would do it.

MR. DEUTSCH: Your Honor --

MR. ROBERTS: To clarify, Your Honor, I

believe what Mr. Popovich means is he fell before he

got there.

THE COURT: I know what he means.

MR. ROBERTS: VYes.

MR. POPOVICH: I may not have said it,
though.

THE COURT: Say that again. I mean,

176
JA001068




w W 1 o e W N R

N NN N NN R B R R KRB B R R B B
& W N P O W ® 4 o8 1 & W M B O

elaborate a bit on —— you were elaborating, one way or
another, on what Mr. Popovich said.

MR. ROBERTS: Yes. We would object, after
considering the way it's being used, is that to the
extent that the purpose of showing this is to show a
transition to carpet and additional dangers of the
route, that any dangers they might want to argue after
the fall are irrelevant and prejudice would outweigh
probative.

MR. DEUTSCH: Your Honor, obviously —-

MR. STRASSBURG: Judge, Team does ——

MR. DEUTSCH: Just in case, he didn't
understand what either of them meant.

MR. STRASSBURG: Can I say something?

THE COURT: Go ahead.

MR. STRASSBURG: Team does have something to
say. We think this is relevant to show that there was
no track-in from this alleged dust outside on the
sidewalk.

THE COURT: It appears to me that it also

shows what's contemplated at the time of planning the

route.

MR. DEUTSCH: Absolutely.

THE COURT: Okay. So I will not allow the
stipulation to be withdrawn.
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MR. POPOVICH: Thank you.
MS. FRESCH: Thank you, Your Honor.
MR. POPOVICH: If it's relevant, I understand
that, certainly.
(Whereupon a short recess was taken.)
THE MARSHAL: All rise for the jury.
(The following proceedings were held in
the presence of the jury.)
THE COURT: You may be seated. Do counsel
stipulate that the jury is now present?
MR. MORELLI: Jury is present.
MR. POPOVICH: So stipulated.
MR. ROBERTS: So stipulated.
MR. CALL: Yes, Your Honor.
THE COURT: Give me just a minute.
MR. DEUTSCH: So, Your Honor, just so we're
clear, Exhibit 403 ——
THE COURT: One second.
MR. DEUTSCH: Sorry.
THE COURT: Go ahead.
MR. DEUTSCH: Just so we're clear,
Exhibit 403, page 9 is now in evidence.
THE COURT: Yes.
MR. DEUTSCH: Okay.
/1117
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(Whereupon, Plaintiffs' Exhibit 403-9
was admitted into evidence.)

BY MR. MORELLI:

Q. So you could see that, Mr. Kenner, on your
screen?
A. Yes.

Q. Okay. That is a photo in the sequence;
right? 1It's the next place where they go?

A. Correct.

Q. Right?

A In the last photo, that's the door that was
open that was close to the wall.

Q. Right. And that's one —- one of the doors
here is the one?

A. Yeah, the —

Q The furthest one?

A. The furthest one, closest to the jury.

Q To the wall. Okay. Okay.

So now they're running in this area. Aand
they're —— the participants are going that way, the way
that we're looking; correct?

A. Correct.
Q. Qkay.
MR. MORELLI: Could I have the next photo?

MR. DEUTSCH: Just give me one second.
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This is page —— Your Honor, at this time, we
would like to move in Exhibit 90, page 64, into
evidence subject to the redactions that we discussed
which were done before I put them up.

MR. POPOVICH: No objection.

MS. FRESCH: No objection.

MR. RUSSELL: No objection.

THE COURT: It's admitted.

(Whereupon, Plaintiffs' Exhibit 90-64

was admitted into evidence.)
MR. MORELLI: Okay. I think if you make it
bigger, then we can -- okay.
BY MR. MORELLI:

Q. Now, Mr. Kenner, if you know, can you
identify these —— these photographs or —— all of them
or any of them?

A. Yeah. That's —— it's —— yes.

Q. Okay. So from the last photograph where they

were running toward that hall, okay, where do they go

next? Is —— does it show it on here?
A. Yeah. The —
Q. Is it the front one here?
A. Yeah.

Q. They go here. Because we had seen, I think,
this —
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A. Yeah.

Q. —— on the wall when we were looking?
A. You can cut — that cuts a corner.
Q. Right .

A.

It's a very tight little, you know, walking
right there, you know. However, it's right there.

Q. Okay. So then from here, which is the next

step?
A. These are so confusing looking.
Yeah. There's one of the photographs ——
There's a clearer —— I can't tell what this
is.

MR. DEUTSCH: I have another batch,
Mr. Morelli.

MR. MORELLI: You know, is it easier for you
to see it here? Why don't you bring up the last one so

Mr. Kenner can look at them. Okay?

Yeah. Why don't you come up so can see.

MR. DEUTSCH: I have another batch. That be
perfect.
BY MR. MORELLI:

Q. Is that clearer? Is that helpful?
A, Yeah. 1It's this —— they come in through this
or are going through here. This is one of those

mirrors so you can see —-—
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Q. Watch your step.
A. Thank you.
Q. Okay.
A, This is one of those mirrors so that you
can —— if you look up, you can see if someone is coming

around a corner.

Q. Right?

A, Because, you know, a waitress would be —
when this is in working, they actually all stop what
they're doing at this time. Everyone knows it's going
to happen.

Q. The kitchen staff.

A. The bartenders aren't walking out. So when
the bartenders would walk out, they could —— you know,
you walk in, you see them with their —— you don't want

to knock them over.

Q. Right.
A. So they'll go in there and come to this area,
but this is —— they don't go anywhere near here.

They're turning right here. It's a very short —- you
know, the length of that bar is half of that —— half of
your jury ——

Q. Of the jury box.

A. Yes.

Q. Okay.
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A. And then there's a little door with another
tiny hallway that's shorter —— it's really short.

Q. Right. |

A. —— which would be right through that door,
which I —— I don't really know what this is,

Q. That's probably just the floor.

A. Yeah, I'm not sure what this is depicting.

MR. DEUTSCH: I have one more Page.

THE WITNESS: Yeah, they go into there, and
then they appear in a trial on an iPad page.

MR. DEUTSCH: One more page. This is —— this
is —

MR. MORELLI: Next.

MR. DEUTSCH: —-— page —— Your Honor, move
into evidence Exhibit 90, page 6, subject to the same
redactions.

MR. POPCOVICH: No objection.

MS. FRESCH: No objection.

MR. RUSSELL: No objection.

THE COURT: Admitted.

(Whereupon, Plaintiffs' Exhibit 90-6 was
admitted into evidence.)
BY MR. MORELLI:
Q. Okay.

Could we make those bigger? Great.
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So now you tell us in —— if —— in sequence so

we know where they're going or ——

A.

This is that little hall, that little tiny —

and so they just ran the bar this way, come past here.

Q. Right. Indicating from left to right.

A. Yeah, so they're coming —— and they turn
here. |

Q. Right.

A, This door is this door.

Q. Okay.

A. So that door is open. They go through here.

Q. So it's the top left to the top right?

A, Correct. And make a slight turn ——

Q.  Okay.

A. —— into here.

Q. Right. Bottom left is next.

I think that's Mr. Habersack, by the way.

A, And this is —— that's an office that —— I

don't know why this picture is —— it's actually here

because they would be going over here. So I'm not sure

what this is really depicting.

But they would come in back here, and they

immediately turn there, and it's —— they're basically

in the theater. They make one little tiny jog to the

right and they're in the theater.
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Q. Okay. Great. Thank you.

Okay. So now when they're in the theater,
Just to make it clear, that's when they're finished
with the route and they're reappearing?

A. Well, they have —— once they go through —-

Q. They have to go up some steps, though?

A, They go stand on some steps, yeah. 1It's
another 15 feet they walk. |

Q. And then they're in the theater?

A. Correct.

Q. Now, am I correct that, in order for this
illusion to work and for everything to go according to
what we talked about earlier, safely —

MR. DEUTSCH: Sorry, everybody.
BY MR. MORELLI:

Q. —— takes a lot of practice? 1Is that correct?

A. Correct.

Q. And there's — not only a lot of practice,
there's what I would call the three Ps. There's

pPreparation; right?

Correct?
A. Uh-huh.
Q. There's practice and there's precision; is

that correct?

A. Well, yeah.
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I mean ——
Those don't hurt.
Huh?

p O ¥ O

Those don't hurt.

Q. Right. So, now, the —— those words have been
used in court before when you were sitting listening to
the openings; correct?

A, Yes.

Q. Okay. And you agree that it takes all of
those things?

A. Yeah, I agree they don't —— it doesn't hurt.
I mean, it's not like a —— I don't sit and, you know,
have a three Ps poster in my room. So, you know —

Q. Well, you're not practicing the three Ps?

A, Well, you know, people use their precision,
their —— they use different ways to term it —

Q. Okay.

A. —— to say it. That's just a way to put it.

Q. Okay. So, now, the —— the people who

practice are David Copperfield?

A. Yes.

Q. Does he practice?

A. Oh, ves.

Q. Okay. Does Mr. Carvalho practice?
A. Yes.
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Q. Okay. What is his title?

A. Assistant stage manager.

Q. Okay. 8o he practices; right? Who's the
stage manager?

A Jay Harmas.

Q. Jay Harmas. Does he practice?

A Of course, yes.

Q. Okay. And you have 32 employees. Do they
all assist with this illusion?

A. With this —— with the Thirteen Illusion?

Q. Yeah, the Thirteen. How many of them, if not
all?

A. Well, myself would not be participating in
the actual running of it. Homer Liwag would not be
participating in the actual running of it.

At that moment, it's a —— pretty much

everyone has something to do because that's a very —

takes a lot of moving —— a lot of moving parts.
Q. Right.
A. So, at any momeht, there might be -- it's

actually 45 people because you have to include the MGM
employees.

Q. Yeah, and I'm just —— you know — but I know.
We're just talking about the Backstage employees would
be about -- about 30 people?
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A. Yeah, 29 to 30 people just for this effect to
work, correct.

Q. Okay. And, now, talking about approximately
another 15 people, which would be MGM employees;
correct?

A. Correct.

Q. Do they practice?

A. Yes.

Q. Okay. Does —— is there anyone else involved
that we haven't mentioned who would have to practice?
A, Everyone that's involved in any of the

illusions practices, rehearses, for sure.

Q. Okay. And a lot or a little? I mean, how
much practice is —— is being done?

A, The Thirteen Illusion, I think, traveled with
us for two years before we put it in the show. So
that's quite a bit of practice.

Q. Right. So it was two years of practice
before you put it. But now let's talk about it around
2013. Okay? Because now it's being shown and it's in
one theater. Okay?

A. Correct.

Q. How much practice, you know, goes into that?
There's still practicing; correct?

A. There's no real practice per se for —-
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unless, you know, we change something, which it's —
they're doing the —- track the show —— shows —— they do
the moves, do the correct cue, track cue.

Q. So, in other words, every single time they're
doing the show, it's —— it's basically another time
they did it and it's another practice?

A. Yeah. Once you've gotten it perfected,

there's no need to practice that particular thing.

Q. Because you're doing it?

A. Correct.

Q. Okay .

a. Because once you've learned it, your practice

is kind of over.

Q. Right. So now they're doing it, all of the
Backstage employees and the MGM employees. They're all
doing it and they all know what to expect; right? They

know what's going to happen? 1It's not a secret to

them?

A. Correct.

Q. Right. We're —— you would agree that you
spend a fair amount of time and effort trying to keep

the secrets —— correct? —— but not from them, not from
the people who are working the illusion?

A. No.

Q. Because they know; correct?
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Now, you would agree that Mr. Cox —— you know

who Mr. Cox is; right?

A. Yes.
Q. He's sitting over there with his wife.
Mr. — Mr. Cox wasn't told anything about

what he was going to encounter. You agree with me on
that; right? |

A, Yes.

Q. And you also agree that Mr. Cox was not
weeded out; right? Because he wasn't a lawyer; right?

A. Correct.

Q. And he wasn't pregnant; right? And he wasn't
wearing flip-flops, although we don't know if that's a
problem anymore. He wasn't weeded out because you
thought he -- not you ——

A, Understand.

Q. —— the people who are loocking, thought he was
physically fit enough. You thought he could run;
correct?

A. Correct.

Q. Okay. So he was selected, but he didn’'t do
any practicing, did he?

A, No.

Q. No. So he was unpracticed and he was caused

to go through what we —-- you know, you described for us
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already —— and appreciate it -- with the photos and
everything — that particular route. Okay? Right?

A. Yes.

Q. And that —-- that particular route that we've
just shown and described to the jury, is that route, in
your opinion, an obstacle course?

A, No.

Q. Okay. No way?

A, No, no way.

Q. Now, the walk-around that we showed in the
video, if you remember, when Mr. Copperfield was
walking around and they were all following him, is that
an obstacle course? Yes or no?

A. Yes.

Q. Okay. So walking around with the lights on,
following around, that's an ocbstacle course, but
running through all those different places that we
looked at, different surfaces, light to dark, inside to
outside, every single thing that we looked at, that's

not an obstacle course, so that I understand; is that

correct?

A. Correct.

Q. Okay. Now, would you —— are you telling this
jury that, when we watched the people, the

participants, following Mr. Copperfield around the
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stage, the prop, the Thirteen -— whatever you want to
call it -- that was a more extreme circumstance than
what they would encounter during the runaround that we
locked at?
MR. ROBERTS: Objection. Vague and
ambiguous.
THE COURT: Sustained.
BY MR. MORELLI:
Q. Was the walk-around more extreme than the
route that the participants had to take?
MR. ROBERTS: Same objection.
THE COURT: If he understands it.
THE WITNESS: The word "extreme" is quite ——
it's —~ it's —
BY MR. MORELLI:
Q. It's not my word. And you heard it in the
opening. Did you disagree with that? Did you disagree
that it was more extreme? If so, tell us.

MR. ROBERTS: Objection, Your Honor. The

word "extreme" was not used in the opening. I have the

word index.
THE COURT: I'll sustain that.
BY MR. MORELLI:
Q. Now —

MR. DEUTSCH: Morelli.
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BY MR. MORELLI:
Q. Now, the —— let's —— let's talk about ——

MR. DEUTSCH: Go ahead. Move on. We'll
look.

BY MR. MORELLI:

Q. So — Mr. Kenner, so I understand, is it more
likely for someone to trip or slip and fall when
they're walking rather than running?

Let's just break it down. More likely
walking or running?

A. I'm not a scientist for this. I don't know.

Q. You think you have to be a scientist for
this? Really?

Is it through cables and —— and ——

No, wait a second.

L S

—— and scenes and objects in the way or ——

Q. I'm not —— no, just my question. There's
nothing in the way. There's no cables. There's no
obstacles. We're —— someone is walking or running, and
you're saying you need a scientist for this.

Let's just follow. Is it more likely for
someone to fall when they're walking or running?
Whatever answer you want to give.

MR. ROBERTS: Objection. Foundation and —
THE COURT: Sustained.
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MR. ROBERTS: -—— and incomplete hypothetical.
MS. FRESCH: Join.
BY MR, MORELLI:
Q. Am I correct, sir, that, when they were

coming up to the stage, they were walking, the

participants?
A. Yes.
Q. Correct?
A. Yes.
Q. When they followed Mr. Copperfield around the

prop, they were walking?

A. Yes.

Q. Correct?

A. Yes.

Q. And during the runaround —— and we're going

to watch the video —— okay? —— of that night —— they
were running; is that correct?

A. Yes.

Q. Okay. Now, is it more dangerous when they
were walking before the route or running the route?
Which was more dangerous for them to fall?

Which one?
A. Trip over objects? Probably the walking.
Q. Let's assume there's no objects, although you

would like there to be.
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Walking or running, is my question.

A. The question is just walking or running?

MR. ROBERTS: Objection, Your Honor. He's
going back to the original question that you sustained.

THE COURT: I did sustain it. You can ask
him what he thinks.

MR, MORELLI: That's what I'm asking him, is
what he thinks.

THE WITNESS: What I think of?

BY MR. MORELLI:
Q. Ckay. I'll ask a different question.

Am I correct, sir, that you would say that
it's more dangerous to be running in the dark rather
than walking in the light?

A. Yes.
Q. Would you agree with me that it's more
dangerous running in the dark when you don't know where

you're going rather than if you did know where you were

going?

A. Yes.

Q.. And do you alsc agree that if you're running
in the dark and you don't know where you're going, that

it would be more dangerous if you encountered an
incline or a change in grade? Yes or no.

A. Yes.
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Q. And also would you agree with me that if you
were running in the dark, you didn't know where you
were going, you encountered an incline, and the incline
had construction dust on it, that that would even be
more dangerous? Do you agree with that?

A. Yes.

Q. Now, am I correct, sir, that you agree — do
you agree with me that, if you select participants to
do the runaround illusion, that you then have a
responsibility to protect them?

A. Yes.

Q. Now, when you're thinking about this illusion
being done by the participants, you're doing screening,
as you said earlier, for their safety; correct?

A. Yes.

Q. And there are things that we've already
agreed could be dangerous. We've already agreed. What
level of danger is okay? I mean, if you know that
there's an incline and you don't warn about it, is that
okay? I mean, is that an okay level of danger for you?

MR. ROBERTS: Objection, Your Honor. Goes to
the ultimate issue.

THE COURT: He can state his thinking.

MR. MORELLI: No, I'm going to withdraw the

question.
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THE WITNESS: I can say what I want?
THE COURT: You can say your thinking about
it.
BY MR. MORELLI:
Q. I'm going to withdraw the question. Okay?
Here's my question: 1In your opinion, when
you're thinking about this illusion, do you decide that

there's a certain level of danger that's okay? Yes or

no.

A. I'm not sure that —— the certain level of
danger.

Q. You know —-

A. Danger is such a — like, what is that? Like
a — a T. rex coming at me? I mean, what's danger?

Q. I hope there's no T. rexes.

A. Oh, you haven't seen the show.

Q. Well, let's be more specific.

We already know that it's foreseeable that
someone can fall. I mean, we already know that. We
talked about it; correct?

A. Yes.

Q. Okay. If someone falls, can that be
dangerous?

A. Sure.

Q. Sure. And the reason that it could be
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dangerous is because they could get hurt; correct?

A. Yes.

Q. Okay. So you would agree with me that there
are times that people can fall and not get hurt?

'A.  Sure.

Q. Right? And we could call that, let's say, in

the accident category. Okay?

Fair enough?

A. Okay.

Q. You had an accident, but, thank God, you were
okay.

And there are times when someone can fall and
they do get hurt. And that's not okay; correct?

A. Yeah. You don't want anyone to get hurt.

Q. Right. So, now, there's been a lot of talk
about how safe this trick is. Now, I want to try to
understand this whole thing about 20 years and
50,000 —— 49 — you know, I was listening, and I heard
100,000, 96,000, then it went down to 50,000. I don't
know how all of that happened.

But the point of that is that it's safe. 1Is
that —— is that the point of the numbers? Is the point
of the numbers that it shows that the illusion is safe?
Yes or no.

A, Yes.
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Q. Okay. So we agree that that's the point.
Now, am I correct, sir, that your —— as you
told us earlier, you're a magician; correct?
A. Yes.
You ever work with coins?
Yes.
You're good at that; right?

Q

A

Q

A. Yeah. Maybe.
Q Okay. Well, people think you are; right?
A

I

I don't know. I'm not going to sit here and
say "I am so great."
Q. You don't have to say you're so great. I
mean, you can say you're good at it.

A. I've done a thing or two before, yeah.

Q. Okay. And am I correct, sir, that — and
let's just talk about flipping coins now —— ockay? —
flipping coins. You flip a coin, it comes up heads,
heads, heads, heads, heads. Does that mean it can't
come up tails, or is there the same — same —— same
probability that it could come up tails the next time?

MR. POPOVICH: Objection.
BY MR. MORELLI:
Q. Hello?
Yes or no.

A. That's, like, a statistical question kind of

199
JA001091




O I T T T T T T T S T S S S S S O SR
O B W N H © Ww @ N oo 0 B W M H O

BT - BN R ST B O U S

thing.
THE COURT: Hold on. There's an objection.
MR. POPOVICH: Argument and speculation all
at the same time.
THE COURT: Well, I'll allow it.
THE WITNESS: So the question?
BY MR. MORELLI:

Q. Am I —— let me rephrase it.

We're dealing with flipping a coin. It has a
head; it has a tail. Correct?
A, 50-50.
Q. 50-50. Now, if I'm flipping this coin and it
comes up ten times heads, does that mean that I'm in a
better position on number 11 to get a head, or am I in
the same position to get a head as I was before I
flipped it ten times?
MR. POPOVICH: Objection. Argument.
THE COURT: 1I'll sustain the objection.
MR. MORELLI: Okay.

BY MR. MORELLTI:

Q. Do you understand my question?

A. Sort of, yes.

Q. Getting a little exercised. Okay. I'm going
to calm down.

A. Red Bull?
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Q. Don't give me Red Bull.

A. Okay. Just checking.

Q. One thing I don't need is Red Bull; I need
Red Lamb.

My point is that, if you're flipping a coin,
just because it came up either heads or tails a number
of times doesn’'t mean that there's a better probability
that it's going to come up again; correct?

A. I guess. I'm not —— again, when you do flip
it multiple, multiple times, I think the odds change.

Q. Okay. But -—-

A, So I'm —— seriously, if you —— it changes
over time.

Q. But you know —- you know that this particular
situation —- okay? —- that we're talking about, when
you're looking at this particular illusion or trick,
you're looking at it from a safety point of view;
correct?

A. Yes,

Q. Okay. Now, have you known that people have
fallen before? Fallen? I'm not talking about getting
hurt now, fallen?

A. Fallen? Have I known that someone has
fallen? Yes.

Q. Okay. Now, when this particular —— on this
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particular night —— you were there that day? I think
we spoke earlier about that; right?

A, Yes. Yes.

Q. Ckay. And you — is it —— is it your
opinion —— well, not your opinion. Withdraw ——
withdraw that question.

Are you stating that, other than Mr. Cox,
who's in the courtroom today, no one has ever fallen
and gotten injured before from this illusion? Is that

your statement? Yes or no.

A. Yes,

Q. Okay. And you're basing -—-

A. From this runaround? From the —— from
this —— being a participant in the illusion?

Q. Yeah, it has to be this particular illusion.

A. Yes.

Q. Yeah.

A. Sorry. I just wanted to make sure I was
clarifying —

Q. No, I should have made that clear. No, no,
just from —

A. A participant in this illusion has ever
fallen?

Q. In this illusion, yes.

A, Correct.
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Q. Now, you're basing that on your own

knowledge; is that correct?

A. Yes.

Q. Your knowledge?

A. Yes.

Q. Okay. And as we saw earlier, when we talked

about certain things, you didn't know every single
thing that went on. 1Is that fair enough?

A. Yes.

Q. Okay. But this, this particular thing, this

no one's ever gotten injured with this illusion, that,

you know?

A. Yeah.

Q. Without a doubt?

A. Yes.

Q. Right?

A Yes.

Q. Okay. No one told you that; you know it.

A. Yeah. I know through my experience this,
yes.

Q. You know it. Okay. Now, so — so if, in
fact, no one has ever gotten injured —— and you would
agree with me that, if someone got injured and they

were taken away in an ambulance, that would be

something you would know. Correct?
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I would have —— I would be told, yes.
Right.

» oo ¥

At some point, yeah.

Q. At some point? Well, okay. If somebody got
injured —— forget about the ambulance part. Okay? If
somebody got injured, that would be unusual®?

A, Ch, ves.

Because it's never happened?
Yes.

It's never happened?

» © PO

Yes.

Q. So it's unusual. Right? Okay. So if it's
unusual because it never happened, am I correct that
somebody would come to the executive producer and say,
Oh, my God, someone just got injured. 1Is that correct?

Well, forget about the, "Oh, my God."

Would they say (descriptive sound), "Someone
just got injured"? Yes?

Would they bring it to your attention, as the
boss, like, right away?

A. Depending on the circumstance.

Q. Well, if —

A. If they were — if somebody was seriously
injured, yes.

Q. Okay. But, you know —— you know, you talked
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a little earlier about extreme, and you said that's
like a tough term to -- to sort of figure out.

A, Yes.

Q. How about "seriously"? Is that an easy term
to figure out for you?

A. Well, depends on what you're talking about
being serious.

Q. Right. I'm just talking about being injured
now. I'm not even talking about the severity of it.
Fair enough? If someone was injured during this
illusion, would the protocol be for them to come to you
and say, this is what just happened?

A. The wvery first thing that they would do would

be to contact —

Q. I didn't say —-
No. To come to me would not be the first
thing to do.
Q. I'm not saying the first thing. What I'm
saying is, would they come to you and tell you that?

Let's talk about the same day. Okay? Not
the first thing. The same day.

Would they come to you and say, Mr. Kenner,
someone just got injured; you know, we want you to know
that?

A. Yeah. They would more likely come and tell
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me. Yeah.
Q. And, actually, you would want to know that,

wouldn't you?

A. Yes.
Q. Like, sooner rather than later?
A, Yes.

Q. And did that happen here? When Mr., Cox got
injured, did they go to you at any time during that
night -- because the accident happened like 8:30,
quarter to 9:00, something like that. Okay?

A. No.

MR. POPOVICH: Objection. Vague, as to
"they."

MR. MORELLI: Excuse me?

THE COURT: Sustained.

MR. MORELLI: I didn't hear what he said.

THE COURT: Vague as to "they." 1Is that you
what you said?

MR. POPOVICH: Yes. If there was an answer,
there might have been a move to strike.

MR. MORELLI: There wasn't an answer.

THE COURT: There was, you said? |

MR. MORELLI: There wasn't an answer.

THE WITNESS: They heard me. There was an

answer they heard.
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THE COURT: The jury will disregard the
answer. Next question.
BY MR. MORELLI:
Q. I have to make more clear.
Did anyone come to you, of your employees,
and tell you about Mr. Cox getting injured?
A. No. ‘
Q. Okay. And you found out about it not that

day; correct?

A, Correct.

Q. Not the next day?

A. No.

Q. Not the next week; right?

A. I don't know exact date, but it was very

quick.

Q. Okay. Well, did you find out about it from
one of your employees?

A. We were told, basically, that he had an
attorney immediately, so ...

Q. Who's "they"?

A, Mr. Cox, I think, had an attorney rather
quickly, and it went through attorneys almost
immediately.

Q. What's immediately to you? Two days? Same
day?
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A. Within two days.

Q. Okay. So what you're saying is, do you
think —— Mr. Kenner, the way you said that, it seems
like there's something wrong with Mr. Cox retaining an
attorney a couple of days later. Did you think there
was something wrong with that?

A. I didn’'t say anything was wrong with it.

Q. No? Well, the way you put it, it seemed to

me that it was a little disparaging. Did you mean it

that way?
A, No. If I said it that way, I didn't mean it
that way. I apologize.

Q. All right. So you found out about it not
from Mr. Cox's attorneys. Right? You found —

A. No.

Q. You found out about it from the attorneys

representing who?

A. I don't know which attorney contacted who.
But we — at that time, we had a business manager named
Bob Burrell, and they had contacted Bob Burrell, who

would be the person who would have held our insurance
information, and deal with that.
Q. Okay. So now ——

A, And he contacted me, and that was the first

| time I heard about it.
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Q. S50 whose business manager was this?
- A. Mr. Copperfield’'s.

Q. Okay. So the attorneys got in touch with the
business manager, and the business manager told you;
correct?

A. Correct.

Q. Okay. So, now, is there — and I'm talking
about now 2013; not talking about now. Was there, more
importantly, a protocol with reference to someone being
injured and what the Backstage employees were supposed
to do? Was there a protocol?

A. Yes.

Q. Okay. Was that protoceol that they had to do
an investigation?

A, No.

Q. Ckay. So there's no protocol for
investigation?

A. No.

Q. Okay. Was the protocol that they had to tell
David Copperfield right away?

A. No.

Q. Okay. There was no protocol for them to tell
you right away either; right?

A. No. Not immediately.

Q. We're talking about protocol now.
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A. No.

Q. And they were supposed to do nothing or they
were supposed —— the Backstage employees. That's all
I'm talking about now. There's 30 of them. Okay?

A. Uh-huh.

Q. At the time, you know, working the illusion.
And they don't have any protocol to do anything when
someone gets injured; is that correct?

A, No. They do.

Q. They do. Okay. So they don't have to notify
the boss. They don't have to notify the other boss.
And do they notify MGM Grand?

A. Can I explain what happens? Or do you just
want to ask these questions, like I ask each one?

THE COURT: Just answer the question.

THE WITNESS: So do they inform MGM Grand?
Yes.
BY MR. MORELLI:

Q. Okay.

A. It's just I could say this in one quick time,
and we're just taking hours for this.

Q. I'm not going to take hours, but. —— not on
this issue.

A. Okay.

Q. What are they supposed to do? And then you
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will tell me, if you know, what they did that night.
Okay? So first tell me what you, as the boss, expect

that your employees — no one else's employees, just

Backstage —— are supposed to do if someone gets
injured?

A. Okay.

Q. OCkay. I'm listening.

A. All right.

Q. Okay .

A, Oh, Lord.

Q. Okay. Look, I'm not easy, but I'm
accommodating.
A. Yes, you are. Yes, you are.

So if anyone gets injured, we are on MGM
property. Cbviously, we have 30 employees; we're not
going to have an ER person on staff. We don't have a
person like that on our staff. The MGM does.

And the MGM has a very, very direct line
through 911 through their security. And if any time a
person is injured on an MGM property, especially
backstage, in the house, you immediately contact
security. And then you call — they call 911 if it's
an emergency that they see, is they call 911.

And they can because, aQain, I don't have any

ER people on our staff, and we're under this umbrella
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because there's Backstage employees; there's MGM
employees. There's another company named Rhino that
that has some people that are employed that are
backstage.

There's quite a bit of people back there with
different companies. So the umbrella would be under
the MGM. So we would contact the MGM security very
quickly. They can get a person there that's an ER
person that's on staff there. 1It's usually the same
one or two people. We have people throw up in the
audience and get sick, and so we have seen them before.

So they call, they assess, because that's the
quickest, safest, best way to accommodate the safety of
this person that's been injured, if they're injured.

Q. Ckay.

A, It's not —— I'm not going to be able to do
anything. Now, if I called 911 the way I have been
told — now, I can't verify this —

Q. No. But I wasn't really asking you about
whether or not you were going to call 911. I was only
asking about whether or not you should be notified that
happened. Not to call 9211, just because you would want
to know sooner rather than later, which you already
said yes to.

A, Correct. Should I answer the second half of
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the question?

Q. So now —— well, let me go — let me go to
another thing.

You —— you stated that the MGM people then
take over, so to speak?

A. Correct.

Q. Correct? And is there a protocol, that you
know about, that they follow?

A, Yes.

Q. Okay. And is one of those protocols that
they follow to do a thorough investigation?

A. I'm pretty sure that's — yes. I think
they — I'm not sure how far, how deep it goes, but you
know, I —— yes. There's — you probably need to ask
Mr. Habersack that question.

Q. Yeah. I'm going to ask him.

A. Okay.

Q. Okay. So are they —— were your employees,
Backstage employees, were they interviewed by MGM ——

A, I don't know.

—— during the investigation?

I'm not —— I'm not sure of that process.
You don't know that?

No.

o ¥ O ¥ O

Is that something that you would want to
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know, as the boss?

A, Yes.

Q. Okay. But no one told you about it. And did

any of your employees, after this accident happened,
tell you what happened and what they saw?

A. Not until after we had heard —— I had heard
about it,

Q. Okay. How long after would you say they told

you about it?

A. I — I'm not sure. It would have been week
or so.

Q. Okay.

A. I don't know the exact time.

Q. Sometime after. Possibly a week?

A. Possibly a week. Possibly. Yeah.

Q. Okay. And which employees came to you and
told you what had happened?

A. Mr. Carvalho. Ryan.

Q. Okay. And Ryan Carvalho —— and we're going
to see the video soon, so you'll be able to point him
out for us.

A, Right.

Q. He is the one who was doing the runaround
with the participants.

A, Correct. He was in the front.
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Q. He was in the front. And, now, someone's in
the front. And I'm going like this because he was
holding hands with somebody who was ——

A. Correct.

Q. —— going in the front. And someone's in the
back. And who is in the back ——

A, Pomai.

Q. —— that night?

A. That night, yes. Pomai Weall. I think it's
W-h —— W-e-a-h-1 [sic].

Q. And that's a woman?

A. Yes.

Q. Okay. And she's bringing up the rear;
correct?

A. Yes.

Q. OCkay. So, now, the —— you heard from
Mr. Carvalho that this happened. What did he tell you?
I'm talking about the first time any of your employees
spoke to you about this accident involving Mr. Cox was
Mr. Carvalho. Fair enough?

A, Correct.

Q. What did he tell you?

A, When Ryan first told me about this, he said
that —— well, I said —— I might have said —— I'm not

sure how the conversation started. So I don't know if
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I went to him and said, "Hey, what happened?"

Q.
A.

Your best recollection; right?

So when he was describing to me, he said a

gentleman slipped during the trick and fell. At the

trick, he spoke to him and asked him if he was okay.

He said yes. Mr. Cox said, yes, and that he was fine.

So they continued. They did the —- we continued the

trick.

The trick ends. And now we're in the —

they're just —— David is about to come in at the — we

do this thing, it's kind of hard to explain, where we

talk to the audience members-that have vanished, and we

basically give them a pep talk. It's kind of funny.

Q.

o ¥ o ¥

It's not you?

No, no, no, no. It's Ryan.
It's Ryan, and then —

And then David.

—— and David Copperfield speaking to them

about the trick and how it's over and talking to them

about keeping the secret?

A,

Correct. Ryan goes first, kind of tells the

gist of, hey, this is what happened. Hey, oh, my gosh,

isn't this fun. 1It's all about fun. The energy is to

be fun. And then, the way I understand it, is that

he —

Q.

Just what Mr. Carvalho told you.
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A, Yeah. We understand. Well, he —

Mr. Carvalho told me that he, when he had asked him, he
said he was okay.

Q. Yes. You told us that.

A. He went.through the meet-and-greet or to the
thing with David. And he may have said — you know, he
may have had a conversation with David. I don’'t know.

Q. You mean —— he meaning Carvalho?

A. No. I —

Q. Mr. Cox?

A. I don't know if Carvalho said to David, "Hey,

he fell," and then David —— I don't know if that was a

conversation.
Q. You don't know if he told David Copperfield?
A, I don't know that conversation part.
Q. Okay.
A, So then, I guess, at the end of this thing,
Mr. Cox said, you know, maybe I will have this looked

at.

But the way that it was told to me, and in
the tone, and no disrespect in any way to anyone, it
wasn't like, you know, there's a person that's super
injured. "Oh, my gosh, he's" —— it was more like, you
know, "Hey, this guy, he might have hurt his shoulder.

He's going to go check it out.”
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Q. No. I understand.

A. It wasn't this crazy thing.

0. I understand because, look ——

A. That would have been another story.

Q. What we were talking about —- because now

Jthis is a week later —

A. Yeah.

Q. —— that you're discussing this, so there's
nothing really to do at that point.

A. Right.

Q. Okay. What we were discussing was
immediately wanting to know tha